
SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND 
LAESCYP MEETING
4.00 pm MONDAY, 20TH JUNE, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
as it will only be used for training purposes by the

Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering 
the Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public 

are consenting to being filmed.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members of this Committee are reminded of their 
personal responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct.  
In addition, Members must declare any prohibited 
party whip which the Member has been given in 
relation to the meeting as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

3. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
1 Raising standards of attainment 
See attached report (Pages 1 - 24)

4. Update on Attendance and Exclusions 
See attached report (Pages 25 - 32)

5. Education of Looked After Children 
See attached report (Pages 33 - 118)

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive any referrals from the other Scrutiny 
Committees and Audit Committee; an update from 
the Chair on their attendance at the Service 
Performance Challenge Meetings and to consider 
any follow up actions from the previous 
Meeting(s).

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Preparation of Forward Work Programme 
See attached report. (Pages 119 - 134)



9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor L Mytton (Chair)

Councillors: S Williams, M Davies, G Lewis, K Moran, 
S Slater and C Tovey

Co-optee(s): C Brown, M Harris, R Lazell, A Rees and 
A Roberts

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan Priority Area 1 
Raising standards of attainment

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2012), outcomes were unsatisfactory with most key indicators below 

the Wales average.  In addition, Estyn judged the quality of self-evaluation in the local 
authority at the time of the inspection as unsatisfactory.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2015), outcomes are adequate because the process of self-
evaluation and planning for improvement has led to significant improvements in 
outcomes across all performance indicators.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes, provision, leadership and management to be excellent 
by 2017.  In order to attain excellence we need to improve standards of attainment and 
wellbeing so they are comparable with the 10 highest performing authorities in Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

2.2. Feedback and comments on the new Scrutiny Performance Report template (appendix 
III) are provided at the meeting.

Date Written 09 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 20 June 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Corporate Plan - Raising standards of attainment
3.3. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority area 

Raising Standards of Attainment.  This priority area seeks to prioritise effort within the 
wide range of activities to have a strategic focus on attainment to achieve the outcome:

a) Children and young people in Merthyr Tydfil to reach their academic 
potential, and have the necessary skills to contribute as responsible citizens 
to their own development and that of the wider community

4. WHERE WE WERE

Raising Standards
4.1. In 2013 in Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory with most key indicators below 

the Wales average.  In addition, Estyn judged the quality of self-evaluation in the local 
authority at the time of the inspection as unsatisfactory.

Key Indicators
2012/13
Merthyr Tydfil

2012/13
Wales

Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 77.8% 83.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 81.2% 84.3%
Level 2 threshold (English or Welsh and maths) 38.7% 52.7%
Level 2 threshold FSM (English or Welsh and maths) 12.3% 25.8%
Level 2 threshold (vocational equivalents) 72.9% 77.8%
Average Capped Points Score 322 333
Leave education without a qualification 0.14% 0.31%
Primary pupil attendance 93.3% 93.7%
Secondary pupil attendance 93.3% 92.6%

Page 2



5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Raising Standards
5.1. By 2017, we want attainment of children and young people in Merthyr Tydfil to be 

ranked within the top ten of local authorities in Wales.  To make the necessary 
improvements in standards we have set ambitious targets for the next two academic 
years.

Key Indicators
2015/2016
Merthyr Tydfil

2016/2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 90.0% 92.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 90.0% 93.0%
Level 2 threshold (English or Welsh and maths) 58.0% 62.0 
Level 2 threshold FSM (English or Welsh and maths) 33.0% 35.0%
Level 2 threshold (vocational equivalents) 88.0% 90.0%
Average Capped Points Score 345 348
Leave education without a qualification 0.00% 0.00%
Primary pupil attendance 95.5% 96.0%
Secondary pupil attendance 95.0% 96.0%

6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Raising Standards
6.1. In 2015 in Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes are adequate because the process of self-

evaluation and planning for improvement has led to significant improvements in 
outcomes across all performance indicators.  In addition, the positive trend is consistent 
over three consecutive years and expectations of performance in August 2016 indicate 
that we will sustain the improvements.

Key Indicators
2014/2015
Merthyr Tydfil

2014/2015
Wales

Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 86.2% 86.8%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 87.4% 87.7%
Level 2 threshold (English or Welsh and maths) 51.9% 57.9%
Level 2 threshold FSM (English or Welsh and maths) 31.3% 31.3%
Level 2 threshold (vocational equivalents) 85.4% 84.1%
Average Capped Points Score 344 344
Leave education without a qualification 0.00% - 1

1 Data for Wales will be available when the Welsh Government publish the National Strategic Indicators in August 
2016

Page 3



Primary pupil attendance 94.3% 94.9%
Secondary pupil attendance 93.1% 93.8%

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
Specific initiatives were identified to be implemented alongside the ongoing drive for 
school improvement through Monitoring, Support, Challenge and Intervention.

(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Basic Skills Strategy
7.2. Level 2 Inclusive Strategy
7.3. Teaching and Leadership in Schools

Initiatives Completed
7.4. Leadership Development programme for aspiring Head Teachers

Lessons Learnt
7.5. The local authority has in place a robust and continuous self-evaluation process for its 

education services and knows itself and its schools well.  Local authority officers are 
using self-evaluation more effectively to identify performance targets and priorities for 
improvement to achieve excellence. The local authority approach to building capacity in 
schools and enabling schools to take responsibility and accountability for driving on 
school improvement is proving successful in raising standards. 

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT
8.1. Continuation of existing initiatives: 

 Basic Skills Strategy 
 Level 2 Inclusive Strategy
 Teaching and Leadership in Schools

8.2. New initiatives

8.3. Following challenges from the Performance Board, five areas for improvement for 
learning were identified:

1. Parental Engagement
2. Performance of More Able and Talented pupils
3. School Governance and Governing Bodies
4. Collaboration
5. Corporate Support Services

Page 4



8.4. It was agreed that progress against areas 1 to 4 will be monitored via the Learning and 
LAESCYP scrutiny committee and area 5 through the Governance scrutiny. 

8.5. In addition there is a focus on improving outcomes for pupils working at the expected 
level +1, with a new focus on improving on boy's attainment. 

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SSWB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Communicate the key messages of how the SSWB and WFG Act will affect staff in 

schools and in local authority learning services. 

9.4. Develop a shared understanding of how to adopt the 5 ways of working as set out in the 
WFG Act.

9.5. Provide greater clarity around the purpose of pupil voice and develop its effectiveness in 
order to improve the robustness of wellbeing evidence for self-evaluation.

9.6. Contribute to the production of the wellbeing assessment by providing robust data and 
evidence and ensuring the lessons learned from Estyn are shared. 

9.7. Develop a new long term strategy for Learning, which will centre on improving wellbeing 
based on the 7 wellbeing goals.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

Page 5



 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Self-Evaluation Report(s)
 Scrutiny Report(s)

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 6



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the expected level in the Foundation 
Phase

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 74.0 77.8 81.2 86.2 90.0 92.0

Wales 80.5 83.0 85.2 86.8

(-6.5) (-5.2) (-4.0) (-0.6) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the Core Subject Indicator at Key Stage 
2

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 77.3 81.2 84.2 87.4 90.0 93.0

Wales 82.6 84.3 86.1 87.7

(-5.3) (-3.1) (-1.9) (-0.3) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the level 2 threshold including English or 
Welsh and mathematics

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 32.5 38.7 48.9 51.9 58.0 62.0

Wales 51.1 52.7 55.4 57.9

(-18.6) (-14.0) (-6.5) (-6.0) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils eligible for free school meals who achieve the level 2 
threshold including English or Welsh and mathematics

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 13.3 12.3 22.8 31.3 33.0 35.0

Wales 23.4 25.8 27.8 31.3

(-10.1) (-13.5) (-5.0) (-0.0) ()

Page 7



TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the level 2 threshold including vocational 
equivalents

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 64.3 72.9 82.0 85.4 88.0 90.0

Wales 72.6 77.8 82.3 84.1

(-8.3) (-4.9) (-0.3) (1.3) ()

TITLE The average capped wider points score

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 300 322 340 344 345 348

Wales 324 333 341 344

(-24) (-11) (-1) (0) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who leave compulsory education without an approved 
qualification

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 0.29 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Wales 0.41 0.31 0.32

(-0.12) (-0.17) (-0.32) () ()

TITLE The percentage of overall (half day sessions) pupil attendance in primary school

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 92.9 93.3 93.9 94.3 95.5 96.0

Wales 93.8 93.7 94.8 94.9

(-0.9) (-0.4) (-0.9) (-0.6) ()

Page 8



TITLE The percentage of overall (half day sessions) pupil attendance in secondary 
school

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

MT 92.4 93.3 92.9 93.1 95.0 96.0

Wales 92.2 92.6 93.6 93.8

(0.2) (0.7) (-0.7) (-0.7) ()

Page 9



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Apr
2017

Jul
2017

Oct
2017

Jan
2018

Basic Skills Strategy 6.1

Level 2 Threshold Strategy 6.2

Leadership Development 6.3

NEW INITIATIVES

Expected Level +1 8.1

Parental Engagement

Performance of More Able and 
Talented pupils

School Governance and 
Governing Bodies

Collaboration

Corporate Support Services

Page 10



Back

PROJECT (A) Basic Skills Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION A key element of this outcome is to improve the literacy and numeracy 
skills of school pupils.  This project is about the delivery and monitoring 
of the Basic Skills Strategy, which has a principal focus on improvement 
in literacy and numeracy skills.  The project will also encompass the 
support to ensure each Basic Skills Manager has the training they need 
to achieve the aims of the project.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvement in the literacy and numeracy skills of school pupils

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

The impact of the Basic Skills Strategy
 Pupil scores of 85 and above in the National Reading Tests 

have risen to 80.0 % in 2014 and 80.8 % in 2015.  Similarly 
results of 85 and over in the National Numeracy Procedural 
Tests have risen from 80.8 % in 2014 to 82.9 % in 2015.  In the 
National Numeracy Reasoning Tests, scores of 85 and above 
have risen from 77.2 % in 2014 to 82.7 % in 2015.

 There is a greater autonomy and consistency amongst schools, 
with the Headteacher, Basic Skills Manager and staff effectively 
embedding practice.  Schools have demonstrated their ability to 
routinely set targets, identify and address underperformance, 
target interventions and resources in order to improve 
standards.  As a result, there is evidence that improvements are 
sustainable and the number of school requiring support is 
reducing.

Page 11



Back

PROJECT (B) Level 2 Threshold Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION This project is about head teachers and senior colleagues taking 
responsibility for the progress of their own schools and working with 
others to provide system leadership with specific improvements for all 
pupils at the end of secondary school in the level 2 inclusive measures 
(i.e. English or Welsh and mathematics).

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvements for all pupils at the end of secondary school in the level 2 
inclusive measures

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

Page 12



Back

PROJECT (C) Leadership Development programme for aspiring Head Teachers

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION This project comprises a suite of programmes for personal and 
leadership development for aspiring and existing Head Teachers.  This 
is a collaborative programme with Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon 
Taf to deliver a number of workshops to train and challenge participants 
to practice and apply new ways of thinking and acting.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvement of leadership  in schools

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

The local authority has commissioned training and development for 
eight aspiring leaders via the Insight Aspiring Leaders training 
programme.
Seven head teachers gained access to professional development via 
CSC leadership continuum, which has contributed towards building the 
leadership capacity.

Page 13



Back

PROJECT (D) Improving outcomes for pupils working at the expected level +1, with a 
new focus on improving on boy's attainment.

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION A key element of this outcome is to improve the literacy skills of boys 
across the authority.  This project is about training literacy leads across 
the authority to deliver literacy units of work that focus on improving the 
outcomes for boys and pupils working at the expected level +1.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improving the outcomes for boys and pupils working at the expected 
level +1

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

n/a

Page 14



Back

PROJECT (E)

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S)

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

n/a

Page 15



Appendix III Scrutiny Performance Report template

Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report - Choose an item.
Click here to enter text.

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
1.2. Click or tap here to enter text.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
2.2. Click or tap here to enter text.

Date Written Click or tap to enter a date.

Report Author

Service

Committee Date Click or tap to enter a date.

Page 16

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
3.2. Click here to enter text.

Council Vision
3.3. Click or tap here to enter text.
3.4. Click here to enter text.

Corporate Plan - Choose an item.
3.5. Click here to enter text.
3.6. Click here to enter text.

Outcomes
3.7. Click here to enter text.
3.8. Click here to enter text.

Page 17



4. WHERE WE WERE

Topic 1
4.1. Click here to enter text.
4.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
4.3. Click here to enter text.
4.4. Click here to enter text.

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Topic 1
5.1. Click here to enter text.
5.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
5.3. Click here to enter text.
5.4. Click here to enter text.

Page 18



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Topic 1
6.1. Click here to enter text.
6.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
6.3. Click here to enter text.
6.4. Click here to enter text.

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Click here to enter text.
7.2. Click here to enter text.
7.3. Click here to enter text.

Initiatives completed
7.4. Click here to enter text.
7.5. Click here to enter text.

Lessons learnt
7.6. Click here to enter text.
7.7. Click here to enter text.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New 
8.1. Click here to enter text.
8.2. Click here to enter text.

Page 19



9. THE WELLBEING DUTY

9.1. Click here to enter text.
9.2. Click here to enter text.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Click here to enter text.
9.4. Click here to enter text.

NAME
TITLE

COUNCILLOR NAME
PORTFOLIO

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)





Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? Choose an item.

Page 20



Appendix I Data

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

() () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

() () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

Page 21



Appendix II Initiatives

INITIATIVES Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Project A

Project B

Project C

…

Page 22



PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Update on Attendance and Exclusions 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Since the Estyn visit of November 2015, progress has been limited with regards to 
attendance and exclusions. 

1.2 In order to bring about improvements the focus is on:

 Building the capacity within schools to meet the emotional social and 
behavioural needs of pupils;

 Enabling schools to improve rates of attendance and exclusions;
 Enabling schools to improve levels of parental engagement.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Scrutiny notes the content of this report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This report provides an update on:
 the outcomes for attendance and exclusions in 2014/15;
 the outcomes for attendance and exclusions to date in 2015/16;
 progress against targets; and
 key issues that need to be addressed.

3.2 In November 2015, Estyn judged that the authority had made satisfactory progress in 
addressing recommendation 3 which includes attendance and exclusions. 

3.3 “The authority’s attendance and exclusion strategies provide a broad overall vision 
for improvement and outline approaches to be taken by the authority and schools. 
Permanent exclusions from schools in Merthyr have been historically low and this 

Date Written 31st May  2016 
Report Author Sarah Bowen 
Service Area Inclusion 
Committee Date 20th June 2016

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



remains the case.  Fixed-term exclusions of 6 days or more have reduced 
considerably.  The rate of exclusions of 5 days or less is lower than that the of the 
Wales average and the authority’s performance is better than the average for Wales 
for this measure. 

All schools have adopted an appropriate, systematic approach to managing 
attendance.  The authority provides schools with monthly attendance statistics and 
headteachers meet together regularly to discuss issues relating to attendance in their 
schools.  The authority continues to develop the use of the attendance data with the 
regional consortium challenge advisers and helpful discussions are held between 
challenge advisers and headteachers. 

Attendance in primary schools has generally improved since the inspection in 2012 
and around half of schools have improved their attendance rates year-on-year over 
this period.  However, when compared to smile schools across Wales, based on 
free-school-meal eligibility, three quarters of primary schools remained in the lower 
50% for attendance. During 2014/15 the authority had the lowest primary rate in 
Wales.

Overall attendance in secondary schools has improved since the inspection in 2012. 
However, when compared to similar schools across Wales, based on free-school-
meal eligibility, three of the four secondary schools are in the lower 50%.” 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1 At the end of academic year 2014/15 (Appendix 1) 
 Strategies had reduced the number of exclusions in secondary schools (5 

days or less 72.9/1000- 33.8/1000)  (6 days or more 7.4/1000 – 2.4/1000);
 Strategies had reduced the average length for an exclusion for both primary 

and secondary schools;
 Strategies had improved attendance in primary schools (92.9% - 94.9%);
 Strategies had improved attendance in secondary schools (92.4% - 93.1%);
 Strategies had been established to improve pupil attendance rates in schools 

and reviewed for their effectiveness;
 Strategies had been established to improve pupil behaviour and reduce 

exclusion rates in schools and reviewed for their effectiveness; and
 Early intervention and preventative approaches had been established to 

improve pupil wellbeing.

5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

5.1 Our ambition is to be ranked within the top 10 local authorities in Wales by 2017. In 
order to achieve this, the performance of all pupils in respect of attendance and 
behaviour needs to continue to improve. 

5.2 The strategies for improvement focus on:
 developing increased accountability of schools for attendance and behaviour;
 building capacity in schools to meet the social and emotional and behavioural 

needs of pupils;
 increasing levels of parental engagement in pupil learning;

Page 26



 ensuring that prevention and early intervention strategies for all pupils are well 
established ; and

 targeting support by using data effectively.

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

6.1 Attendance- September- April 2015/16 (Appendix 2)
 The attendance across primary schools is 94.57%, compared to 94.4% in 

2015 and against a target of 95.2%. 
 The projected position for the end of the academic year is 94.6% which would 

rank Merthyr Tydfil 18th based upon figures for 2014/15. 
 There has been a reduction in the number of schools benchmarked in 

quartiles 4 and 3 when compared to 2014/15, this has reduced from 
o 10 in BMQ 4 to 8, and
o 8 in BMQ 3 to 5.

 There has been an increase in the number of schools benchmarked in 
quartiles 2 and 1 when compared to 2014/15, this has increased from  
o 2 in BMQ 2 to 5, and
o 2 in BMQ 1 to 3.

 The attendance at secondary schools is 92.90% compared to 93.1% and 
against a target of 94.2%.

 The projected position for the end of the academic year is 93.1% which would 
rank Merthyr Tydfil 20th based upon figures for 2014/15. 

 There has been a reduction in the number of schools benchmarked in 
quartiles  3 and 1 when compared to 2014/15, this has reduced from
o 3 in BMQ 3 to 1, and 
o 1 in BMQ 1 to 0.

 There has been an increase in the number of schools benchmarked in 
quartiles 2 and 4 as follows when compared to 2014/15, this has increased 
from 
o 0 in BMQ 2 to 1, and 
o 0 in BMQ 4 to 2.

The key strategies that have been introduced into schools to address poor 
attendance are:-
 the effective use of data to target resources; 
 a consistent and challenging approach to absences;
 an increased awareness of the correlation between attainment and 

attendance; and
 ensuring that attendance is a priority. 
However the key issues are:-
 managing sickness; and
 persistent absentees.

6.2 Exclusions September- April 2015/16 (Appendix 3)
Secondary schools
 There has been an increase in the total number of incidents resulting in an 

exclusion from 83 in 2014/15 to 93 in 2015/16. 

Page 27



 There has been an increase in the number of incidents resulting in exclusion 
for 5 days or fewer from 80 in 2014/15 to 94 in 2015/16.

 There has been a decrease in the number of incidents resulting in exclusion 
for 6 days or more from 3 in 2014/15 to 0 in 2015/16.  

 There have been three permanent exclusions for the academic year 2015/16.   
 The total number of days lost has reduced from 183.5 to 146.5 for the 

comparative period. 

The main change is a reduction in exclusions for the lengthier period i.e. for 
six days or more which has resulted in an overall reduction in the number of 
days lost. In some schools a more effective approach to behaviour 
management has been the use of internal sanctions e.g. lunchtime detentions. 

Primary schools
 There has been a decrease in the total number of incidents resulting in an 

exclusion from 39 in 2014/15 to 30 in 2015/16. 
 There has been a decrease in the number of incidents resulting in exclusion 

for 5 days or fewer from 36 in 2014/15 to 26 in 2015/16.
 There has been an increase in the number of incidents resulting in exclusion 

for 6 days or more from 3 in 2014/15 to 4 in 2015/16. 
 There have been no permanent exclusions for this period. 
 The total number of days lost due to all exclusions has decreased from 119.5 

days to 93.5 for the comparative period.

The main change is an overall reduction in both the number of exclusions and 
days lost. This has been as a result of improved capacity in schools to manage 
low level disruption and challenging behaviour.

6.3 Actions taken by the LA
 Provided attendance profiles outlining areas of strength and those for 

improvement for Headteachers, Chair of Governors and Challenge Advisers.
 Meetings with schools to confirm approaches for improvement in relation to 

attendance.
 Provided behaviour profiles outlining areas of strength and those for 

improvement for Headteachers, Chair of Governors and Challenge Advisers.
 Provided training opportunities and guidance for behaviour.
 Made changes to the activities within the Education Welfare Service Level 

Agreement 2015/16.  This was to ensure that the work of the Education 
Inclusion Officers was focused on activities directly related to improving 
attendance e.g. working with families.  Following a review of the service during 
August-September 2015 it was agreed that the service should be restructured. 
This was to ensure that schools exercise their autonomy and responsibility 
around key decisions and activities.  Some schools have chosen to use the 
funding to directly employ staff to address the attendance needs of the school. 
Twelve schools have bought into the SLA for 2016/17 and now direct all the 
work of their EIOs.  There are two core funded posts to deliver the statutory 
functions. The statutory role of the Education Inclusion Service within the local 
authority covers school attendance, child welfare, pupil exclusions and 
regulating child employment/performance licenses.

 The Attendance Group has extended its remit to cover all aspects of 
Wellbeing and is established as a forum for sharing good practice.

Page 28



 Resources, advice and guidance for wellbeing are shared via the Inclusion 
Newsletter with schools and colleagues. 

 The Parental Engagement Strategy was launched with schools and areas of 
good practice have been identified and shared.  The proposed measures for 
these are attainment, attendance, exclusions, the number of schools taking 
part in parental engagement training and events, and the number of schools 
that offer opportunities for parents to engage.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The next steps are:
 to provide training for schools on challenging and supporting parents in 

matters of non-attendance;
 to meet with schools to discuss areas of improvement in relation to behaviour; 
 to hold schools to account  through case conferences with head teachers and 

chairs of governors to ensure they are taking all possible action to address low 
attendance and high exclusions;

 to continue to provide in depth monthly data; 
 to build capacity in schools for effective classroom management; and
 to enable schools to increase levels of parental engagement  and confirm 

measures. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the report positively impacts on all aspects of the Corporate Plan and 
Single Integrated Plan; including people in Merthyr Tydfil having the opportunity and 
aspiration to learn and develop their skills to maximise their potential; and children 
and young people enjoying a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable place in which 
to live, work, play and visit.  No negative impacts have been identified. 

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 29



Appendix 1 
Progress to date

O
ut

co
m

es
20

11
/1

2

R
an

ki
ng

 
20

11
/1

2

O
ut

co
m

es
20

13
/1

4

R
an

ki
ng

 
20

13
/1

4

O
ut

co
m

es
 

20
14

/1
5

Primary school attendance 92.9 % 22nd 93.9 % 22nd 94.9% 

Secondary school attendance 92.3 % 12th 92.9 % 19th 93.1 %

Secondary school attendance EOTAS 41.7 % 67.0 % 72.7 %

Primary absence rates persistent absentees 3.10 % 18th 1.70 % 12th 1.5%

Secondary absence rates persistent 
absentees

6.70 % 16th 5.90 % Joint 19th 5.1%

Primary fixed-term 5 days or fewer 1 3.82 8.6 9.4 

Primary fixed-term 6 days or more 0.19 1 0.8 

Primary permanent exclusions 0 0 1

Secondary fixed-term 5 days or fewer 72.9 18th 36.8 TBC 33.8 

Secondary fixed-term 6 days or more 7.4 18th 1 TBC 2.4 

Secondary permanent exclusions 1 Top 
quartile

1 TBC 1

Secondary exclusions EOTAS 115 38 23

Secondary average length of exclusion (days) 3.1 2.5 2.2

Primary average length of exclusion (days) 2.5 3.3 3.2

1 Rate per 1,000 pupils

Page 30



Appendix 2 

 
Outcomes 
2013-14

Outcomes 
2014-15

Wales 
Average 
2014-15

Targets 
2015-16

Actual 
performance 
April
2015-16

Targets 
2016-17

Targets 
2017-18

Primary Schools 
Attendance  93.95% 94.4% 94.9% 95.25% 94.57% 95.50% 96%
Secondary Schools 
Attendance 92.9% 93.1% 93.8% 94.25% 92.90% 95% 96%
Attendance for pupils 
eligible for FSM- primary 92.1% 93% 92.6% 94% 93.04% 95% 95.50%
Attendance for pupils 
non FSM- primary 95.02% 95.50% 96%
Attendance for pupils 
eligible for FSM 
secondary 88.5% 90% 89.3% 91% 89.50% 92% 92.50%
Attendance for pupils 
non FSM secondary 93.86% 95% 96%

The percentage of 
overall attendance 
for  boys in primary 
school

94.19% 94.3%

94.9% 95.25% 94.55% 95.5% 96%

The percentage of 
overall attendance 
for girls in primary 
school

93.97% 94.5%
95% 95.25% 94.60% 95.5% 96%

The percentage of 
overall attendance 
for  boys in 
secondary school 94.25% 92.87% 95.50% 96%

The percentage of 
overall persistent 
absenteeism 
attendance for girls 
in secondary school 94.25% 92.94% 95.50% 96%

The percentage of 
overall persistent 
absenteeism in 
secondary school 5.9% 5.1% 4.5% 3.0% 6.02% 2.0%

The percentage of 
overall persistent 
absenteeism in 
primary school 1.7% 1.5% 1.4% 1.0% 1.48% 0.5%

Page 31



Appendix 3

 
Outcomes 

2012-13
Outcomes 

2013-14
Outcomes 

2014-15

Actual 
performance

April
 2016

Targets 
2015-16

Targets 
2016-17

Primary schools permanent 
exclusions 0 0

1

0 0 0

Secondary schools permanent 
exclusions 0 1 1 3 0 0

Secondary schools fixed term 
exclusions 5 days or fewer 
(Rate per 1,000 pupils)

51.9
(3059)

36.8
 (3151)

36.2
(2903)

32.4
(2903) 25 20

Secondary schools fixed term 
exclusions 6 days or more 
(Rate per 1,000 pupils)

3.9
(3059)

1 
(3151)

2.4
(2903)

0
 (2903) 0 0

Primary schools fixed term 
exclusions 5 days or fewer 
(Rate per 1,000 pupils)

 7.7
(5,300)

8.6
(4787)

9.6
(4988) 5.2

(4988)

Primary schools fixed term 
exclusions 6 days or more 
(Rate per 1,000 pupils)

0.9
(5,300)

1
(4787)

1.2
(4988) 0.8

(4988)
Average length of an 
exclusion (secondary) 2.7 days 2.5 days 2.2days  1.6 days

2.0 
days 

1.5 
days 

Average length of an 
exclusion (primary) 2.7 days 3.3 days 3.2days     3.2 days

2.0 
days 

1.5 
days 

Page 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

EDUCATION OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report summarises the attainment and provision of children who are looked after 
in Merthyr Tydfil.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Scrutiny accepts this report and approves the recommendations for future action as 
outlined in the Strategy for Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDGLAC) 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Welsh Government strategy ‘Raising aspirations and educational attainment of 
children who are looked after’ identifies a number of high level strategic objectives for 
pupils who are looked after, including:

 Raising aspirations educational and attainment, and raising the ability of those 
who care for pupils looked after, to support their educational achievement 

 Reinforcing collective accountability across national, regional and local levels 
for the educational outcomes of pupils looked after

 Making education a priority and a point of focus through all transitions and 
difficult circumstances

 Ensuring the necessary support is made available to pupils looked after to 
enable them to overcome their barriers to achievement

 Identifying and using appropriate data to target support
 Ensuring excellent practice is identified, promoted and shared wherever it 

exists.

Date Written 6th June 2016
Report Author Teresa Winiarski
Service Area ALN / Learning
Committee Date 20th June 2016

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



3.2 The Welsh Government Guidance expects the local authorities and Looked After 
Children Education Services (LACES) coordinators to perform the following roles:

 Promote the education of children looked after who are placed in and out of 
area

 Provide challenge in cases of underachievement, and in relation to exclusion 
from any provision

 Bridge the gap between social services, schools and the education authority 
regarding Special Education Needs (SEN) admission arrangements and any 
other issues that form barriers to learning

 Liaise with services to ensure appropriate and timely support and access to 
universal entitlements

 Ensure Personal Education Plans (PEPs) are in place and provide guidance on 
their implementation

 Attend LAC reviews as appropriate
 Establish and maintain a list of designated teachers for each school attended 

by children who are looked after

3.3 LACES currently sits within the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) service area within 
the Schools Department, with line management of the LACES team provided by the 
ALN team leader. This is a temporary situation due to the maternity leave of the 
substantive LACES coordinator. The service is due to return to the Social Services 
department in April 2017. 

3.4 Achievement and provision for children looked after is reported to the Merthyr Tydfil 
Corporate Parenting Board.

3.5 Strategic direction for provision for children looked after is led and managed through 
the Central South Consortium (CSC)

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Attainment in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC), over time from 2012 
to 2015 across the region and Wales is detailed in the attached report ‘Raising the 
ambitions and educational attainment of children who are looked after – Strategy for 
the PDGLAC in CSC for 2016-17 (Appendix 1)

4.2 Data indicates that pupils looked after in MTCBC have not attained as well as pupils 
who are not looked after in any key stage between 2012 and 2015. 

4.3 Whilst there has been an increase in attainment of the CSI in all key stages over the 
period 2012-15, progress has not been steady. Whilst there is a consistent upward 
trend in attainment at Key Stage 3 in this period, there is no consistent upward trend 
in attainment at Foundation Phase or at Key Stage 2. The attainment of the CSI by 
pupils looked after for each key stage between 2012-15 is as follows:

Page 34



Key Stage 2012 2013 2014 2015
Key Stage 2 NA 33.3% 

(1 of 3)
25% 
(1 of 4) 

66.7% 
(6 of 9)

Key Stage 3 60% 
(3 of 5)

10% 
(1 of 10)

66.7% 
(4 of 6)

75% 
(3 of 4)

Key Stage 4 0% 
(0 of 7)

10% 
(1 of 10)

42.9% 
(3 of 7)

10% 
(1 of 10)

4.4 The attainment of children looked after is too low. Too many children looked after do 
not make the expected progress from the point that they are taken into care. The 
ambition is for pupils looked after in MTCBC to make better than expected progress. 
In order to meet this challenge, our aim is to improve the focus on attainment in the 
support and provision that they currently receive. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 There are currently 122 pupils who are looked after by Merthyr Tydfil (June 7th 2016). 

In county 
schools

Out of county
schools

Total

No. Of primary 
Merthyr 
LAC 
pupils

19 23 42

No. Of 
Seconda
ry 
Merthyr 
LAC 
pupils

22 36 58

No. Of Post 16 
LAC 
pupils

12 10 22

TOTAL 53 69 122

5.2 The LACES team consists of a LACES coordinator and four LACES learning support 
assistants. Currently the role of the LACES coordinator is being actioned by the ALN 
team leader whilst the substantive post holder is on maternity leave. 

5.3 The strategy for looked after children is produced in conjunction with the Central 
South Consortium. The Strategy for the use of the PDGLAC as well as the LACES 
Plan 2014-16 has been developed in conjunction with other local authorities within 
the region, as directed by Welsh Government. These strategies and plans are 
attached (Appendix 2 and Appendix 3). 

5.4 The focus for 2016-17 is on raising the aspirations and attainment of pupils looked 
after, whilst maintaining the current emphasis on wellbeing. 

Page 35



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
6.1 The aim is to close the gap between the attainment of pupils who are and are not 

looked after in Merthyr Tydfil, and to provide support to enable pupils looked after to 
meet ambitious targets. 

6.2 This will be challenging, and will require the focus on attainment to be 
strengthened. 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
7.1  The following key priorities form the basis of the LACES Plan for 2014-16:

 To build the capacity of the school system to improve the outcomes achieved by 
pupils looked after

 To develop effective leadership by defining roles and responsibilities at a school 
and local authority level

 To build effective partnerships and collaborate to improve outcomes
 To share effective teaching and learning for children looked after
 To make better use of data
 To strengthen the funding arrangements at school and local authority level
 To improve pupil participation in the development of strategic approaches and 

operational decision making

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1 Identify the corporate priorities and respective plans and strategy to which the 

contents of the report relate. Explain how the issues in the report contribute to the 
corporate priorities.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Appendix 1: Raising the ambitions 
and educational attainment of 

children who are looked after – 
Strategy for PDGLAC in Central 
South Consortium for 2016-17

January 2016

Use of Pupil Deprivation Grant for 
Looked after Children (PDGLAC) to 

support improved educational 
outcomes

October 2015

LACES (Looked after Children 
Education Support) Plan 2014-16 

January 2015, last 
amended January 2016 
(due for further update 

in July 2016)
Page 36



Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39

jonesh1
Text Box
APPENDIX I



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



1

Front cover

Central South Consortium:  

Use of Pupil Deprivation Grant for Looked 
after Children (PDGLAC) to support improved 
educational outcomes 

Martine Coles 

October 2015

APPENDIX II

Page 49



2

Contents 

Context and Performance   Page 3

Principles Page 4

Regional Budget Summary Pages 5-6

Spending Plan for Central South Consortium Pages 7-11

Spending Plan for Cardiff Pages 12-15

Spending Plan for Merthyr Tydfil CBC Pages 16-23

Spending Plan for Rhondda Cynon Taff Page 24-31

Spending Plan for Vale of Glamorgan Pages 32-36

Page 50



3

Context

There are approximately 1300 Looked after Children with a home authority within the Central South region. A 
number of these are educated out of county but their PDGLAC allocation is included within this plan.

Numbers of LAC in schools across the Central South Region

BridgendCardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

125

250

375

500
LAC as per 2014/15 Grant
LAC as per 2015/16 Grant
LAC as per LACe April 2015

Whilst the educational outcomes of Looked after Children in this region show some signs of improvement, their 
outcomes continue to be considerably worse than the attainment of the rest of the school-age population in this 
region. This is a pattern across the UK. 

KS4 Level 2+ Performance – LAC vs All pupils

Bridgend VOG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC
0%

20%
30%

50%

70%

2012 LAC
2012 All Pupils
2013 LAC
2013 All Pupils
2014 LAC

KS2 CSI Performance – LAC vs All pupils

Bridgend VOG RCT Merthyr Cardiff CSC
0%

20%

50%

80%

100%

2012 LAC
2012 All Pupils
2013 LAC
2013 All Pupils
2014 LAC

Page 51



4

Principles

Evidence about the poor attainment of Looked after Children is well documented and points to multiple placements, 
poor provision, low expectations and inconsistent support within and beyond the classroom. Successful LAC 
strategies are focused on a strong emphasis on impact for the individual child, partnerships working well around the 
child, effective and well-tailored provision working in tandem with effective placement and corporate parenting 
practice.  

Research also suggests that where PDG LAC is most effectively spent, school leaders consider the impact more 
strategically across the entire organisation, rather than just for the individual child.  This is not just in terms of the 
immediate impact for the child, but also considering how effective strategies, or training for staff can benefit the 
schools as a whole.

In the PDG15/16 guidance the Welsh Government are supporting regional education consortia to work with 
authorities to make sure interventions and support provided to look after children are provided consistently, and in 
a way that improves educational outcomes.   

In this region the consortium works with LAC Coordinators from the five local authorities in a commitment to raise 
the achievement of all Looked after Children, as well as develop sustainable capacity within the system about the 
needs of these children.  Our strategy is based on the following principles:

• Every looked after child with a clear and measurable education plan agreed, monitored and provided for by 
the school; 

• The right provision in the right place to support educational progress; 

• Efficiency in commissioning of specialist support for LAC where a number of children are placed in the same 
school or area; 

• Effective training and development for staff working with LAC as well as social care staff supporting 
educational outcomes;

• Learner Voice informing provision and quality of support for education of looked after children in each 
authority; 

• System wide drive to focus on performance of looked after children, evaluate what is working and learn 
from it to build sustainable impact across the region.

Page 52



5

CONSORTIUM ALLOCATION £1,347,150

LA DELEGATED FUNDING £1,328,315

REGIONAL BUDGET £18,835

LOCAL AUTHORITY LAC EDUCATION COORDINATOR PDGLAC ALLOCATION

BRIDGEND Beverley Jones £287,819

CARDIFF Nicola Holder £358,221

MERTHYR TYDFIL Jessica Jones £124,238

RHONNDA CYNON TAF Hannah Bevan £428,622

VALE OF GLAMORGAN Martine Coles £129,415

P
age 53



6

Allocation Per Pupil for PDG Schools £1,050

LAC  Pupil Nos Bridgend Pupil 
Nos

Cardiff Pupil 
Nos

Merthyr Pupil 
Nos

RCT Pupil 
Nos

Vale Consortia Total

 Total Grant            £26,150,25
0

              

23622 Schools FSM PLASC Jan 14 3562 £3,740,100 8992 £9,441,600 1755 £1,842,750 6926 £7,272,300 2387 £2,506,350  £24,803,10
0

1283 LAC as per Grant Calculation 278 £287,819 346 £358,221 120 £124,238 414 £428,622 125 £129,415  1,328,315

 CSC LAC Education Plan           £18,835 £18,835

  £4,027,919  £9,799,821  £1,966,988  £7,700,922  £2,635,765 £18,835 £26,150,25
0

P
age 54



7

High level regional plan

Our high level regional plan informs the work of the authorities and the consortium and is the basis upon which we review our work together.

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring 
Term

Priority Success measure By when Who

1) Strategic oversight of LAC 
placements and outcomes

LACE coordinators have a database of LAC children across the region 
with school placement which is drawn together across the region. 
Designated teachers in each school identified and shared across the 
region. 

March 2016 LACE coordinators

2) Children are provided with a 
personal education plan which 
is the responsibility of the 
designated teacher

Every LAC child across the region is identified and provided with a 
Personal Education Plan (PEP).  PEPs are sufficiently stretching and 
focused on enabling each child to achieve their full potential. 
PEPs are sampled by the CSC to review quality and impact.

March 2016 LACE coordinators

3) Provision is in place at the 
right time and in the right 
place and in the most efficient 
and effective way

Improved educational outcomes for LAC.
Local authorities are able to demonstrate value for money and 
efficient use of PDGLAC across the region in.
There is a robust evaluation process in place in each authority which 
reviews impact and value for money and across the region. 

March 2016 LACE coordinators

4) Develop provision based on 
the learner voice of the looked 
after child

The CSC develops a LAC learner voice forum.
The CSC can evidence how Learner Voice is used to improve 
processes and provision. 

March 2016 CSC Consortium

5) School staff are able to access 
training and support.

Designated LAC teachers are identified and supported across the 
region.

March 2016 CSC Consortium  

P
age 55



8

6) Foster carers and Children’s 
Services are aware of how to 
improve learner outcomes for 
LAC 

Effective foster care training is in place across all authorities drawing 
from what works in the region. 

March 2016 CSC Consortium  

7) LAC coordinators identify 
innovation and disseminate 
good practice across the 
region

LAC coordinators develop programme of CPD which can be applied 
across the region into what works, evidence led. 

December LACE coordinators

P
age 56



9

REGIONAL PRIORITY ONE:  Strategic oversight of LAC placements and outcomes

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Identification Creation of Central South data base of LAC children 
and designated staff.  £8 835 March 2016 CSC LAC 

Education lead
A data base of contacts 
to in schools

Collection and 
Correlation 

School based data to be collected, monitored and 
reviewed.

From existing 
resources March 2016 LACE 

coordinators
Data is used to inform 
future provision

Identification of Key 
Interventions

Best practice Interventions to be flagged up by CSC 
LAC Education lead and shared across the region. 

From existing 
resources

September 
2015

LACE 
coordinators

Schools with good 
practice to engage in 
joint working 

REGIONAL  PRIORITY TWO:  Children are provided with personal education plan which is the responsibility of the designated teacher

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Impact  
CSC LAC Education lead to review the development 
of PEPs as a way of effective tracking for LAC 
children.

From existing 
resources March 2015 

Review of PEP 
delivery by LACE 
coordinators

Improved outcomes for 
LAC 

Training to be provided 
to the challenge 
advisors. 

Focused training for Challenge Advisors to enhance 
LAC progress and provision.

From existing 
resources March 2015 CSC LAC 

Education lead

Challenge Advisors are 
able to challenge and 
support schools on LAC 
attainment.

P
age 57



10

REGIONAL  PRIORITY THREE: Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Attainment and 
achievement 

CSC LAC Education lead to work in partnership 
with LACE teams to ensure effective PDGLAC 
activity. 

From existing 
resources March 2015

Programme to be 
subject to the 
CSC Quality 
Assurance 
process. 

A robust and highly 
challenging programme 
that can raise standards 
of teaching and 
learning. 

REGIONAL PRIORITY FOUR:  Develop provision based on the learner voice of the looked after child

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Learner voice
Set up of steering groups consisting of LAC to 
inform provision.

To be funded 
on  a 
proportional 
basis from 
the LA 
allocation

March 2016 CSC Consortium

The establishment of a 
LAC forum to inform 
future provision. 

P
age 58



11

REGIONAL PRIORITY FIVE: School staff are able to access training and support.

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Capacity building  

Development of designated LAC leaders in schools 
through a forum.

Opportunities for schools to share and build on 
existing good practice which improves outcomes.

£5 000 March 2015
Impact 
evaluations of 
the forum 

To increase the skills, 
and confidence of 
teachers in the 
classroom

REGIONAL PRIORITY SIX: Foster carers and Children’s Services are aware of how to improve learner outcomes for LAC

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Capacity building  

LACE teams and foster carers develop a 
programme for carers and adults who work with 
looked after children to academic support. 
LACE teams deliver workshops.

£1 000 March 2015 CSC Consortium

Develop the skills of 
carers in order that 
they might more 
effectively support 
children out of school. 

P
age 59



12

REGIONAL PRIORITY SEVEN: LAC coordinators identify innovation and disseminate good practice across the region

What - focus Actions
Resources/ 

Costing 
Implications. 

When (Exact 
Dates) Monitoring Desired Impact 

Training for LAC 
Education 
Ccoordinators

Additional funding to be made available for LAC 
Coordinators to access training.
As part of this development CSC would look for 
ways of sharing current research that is happening 
at a local and national level in relation to LAC. 
B= , C= , M= , RCT= , V=

£4,000 January 2016

CSC LAC 
Education lead to 
quality assure 
training 
opportunities 

LAC Education 
Coordinators to 
disseminate training to 
schools.

P
age 60



13

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of the Spring 
Term

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  BRIDGEND

Priority One Provision is in place at the right time, in the right place and used in the most efficient and effective way.

Priority Two School staff are able to access training and support to provide appropriately for the needs of LAC

Priority Three ‘Closing the gap’ raising achievements and attainments and ambitions of Looked after Children in Bridgend by establishing Virtual 
School and appointment of Virtual Head.

P
age 61



14

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE: Provision is in place at the right time, in the right place and used in the most efficient and effective way.

What - 
focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, when  
and by whom

Provision is 
in place at 
the right 

time, in the 
right place 
and used in 

the most 
efficient 

and 
effective 

way.

Develop a system that 
will enable schools to 

provide additional 
support to LAC pupils 
where there is a clear 
identification of need. 
This system will allow 
schools to apply for 

funding on an 
individual/group  basis 

and will need 
evidence:

To be 
considered 

and 
allocated on 

a case by 
case basis

No cost 
attached

System 
developed and 
referral process 
disseminated to 
schools by the 
deadline date 

of 27th 
November

March 
2016

Revised WG 
recommendations 
resulted in delay in 
approval of plan.

Nearly all objectives met   

Group Manager 
for School 

Improvement, 
LAC 

Coordinator.

Evidence 
provided in the 
bids and passed 

experience of 
the use of 
LAC/PDG

P
age 62



15

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE continued: Provision is in place at the right time, in the right place and used in the most efficient and effective way.

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 

2015
£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track or 

Slipped) Please 
indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How will 
this be achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

To ensure the 
attainment 

and emotional 
well -being 

needs of LAC 
pupils are 

being 
addressed by 

schools

Sustainability – e.g. 
do they offer match 

funding to 
demonstrate this?

Accelerate 
attainment

Make a difference 
to well-being

Be outcome focused

Demonstrate past 
success

Require evidence of 
needs with clear link 
to actions proposed

Be closely 
monitored through 

evidence of 

£100,000 £0 £100,000

(£108, 000 
actual to 
follow) 

Application 
for funding 

requests 
received

Deadline set 
for receipt 

of final 
requests

Panel to 
have met 

and 
considered 
all requests

27th 
November 

2015

December 
2015

Slipped

Many objectives met
Multi-agency panel 

working and 
regional CSC 

LAC/PDG 
Coordinator

All requests will 
need to be 

evidence clear 
outcomes 

expected from 
interventions, 
sustainability, 

accelerate 
attainment and 

impact on 
wellbeing.

P
age 63



16

progress against 
targets set in the 

Personal Education 
Plan (PEP) and other 

related plans.

Request for funding 
would be 

considered by a 
panel that would 

include the regional 
CSC LAC/PDG.  

There would be a 
requirement that 

where schools have 
been  successful in 

securing
funding they would 

be
required to share 

good
practice with other

Schools.

P
age 64



17

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE continued: Provision is in place at the right time, in the right place and used in the most efficient and effective way.

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 

2015
£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track or 
Slipped) Please indicate 
and provide narrative 

on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, when  
and by whom

Provision is in 
place at the 

right time, in 
the right place 

and used in 
the most 

efficient and 
effective way.

Build 
capacity on a 

local 
authority 

level to fund 
a support 

worker 
within the 

LACE Team.

£27,000 
(including 
on-costs) £12,500 £27,000

Monitoring 
outcome 

returns to be 
received.

Monitoring 
of all 

resources 
allocated to 

be 
completed

On-going 
through to April 

2016

Final monitoring 
of interventions 
to be completed 
by end of April 

2016

April 2015-April 
2016

(Evidence - Quantity of 
children supported

Pupil voice evaluations
 

Ongoing as part of 
existing process

Nearly all objectives met   

Monitoring 
record to be sent 

to school on 
completion of 
intervention 
indicating:

• Outcome of 
intervention

• Impact on well-
being

• Value for 
money

•sustainability

Evaluation of 
impact on:

•young person/
child

•school
•carers

P
age 65



18

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE continued: Provision is in place at the right time, in the right place and used in the most efficient and effective way.

What 
- 

focus
Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 

2015
£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track or 
Slipped) Please indicate 

and provide narrative on 
Progress 

Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How will 
this be achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

Ensure every 
looked after child 
has a timely and 
effective PEP and 

ensure process 
impacts on 
attainment

PEP Coordinator 
to share good 
practice across 

the Local 
Authority 
£26,696 

(including on 
costs)

£12,750 £26,696

April 
2015-
April 
2016

On-going as part 
of existing 

process termly 
monitoring of 

attainment and 
tracking of all 

LAC pupils

(Please provide the 
improved PI information)

Nearly all objectives met   

Process impacts on 
outcomes.  PEP’s 
to be monitored 

rigorously by 
Independent 

Reviewing Officers

P
age 66



19

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY TWO:  School staff are able to access training and support to provide appropriately for the needs of LAC

What 
- 

focus
Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 

2015
£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track or 

Slipped) Please 
indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How will 
this be achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

A proposal to introduce 
Thrive as a pilot, to upskill 
designated teachers and 
relevant staff on having a 
greater understanding of 
the needs of looked after 

children.  Thrive is a 
rigorous and scientifically 
informed approach that is 
differentiated carefully to 

address children’s 
emotional development in a 
systematic and specific way 
and supports workforce and 

individual children.

Thrive will assist DT’s and 
support staff with a greater 
understanding of the needs 
of looked after children and 

will  assist in building 
capacity within the school 

to support the needs of LAC 

Total
£72,753

£0 £72,753 Appropriate 
staff 

identified by 
schools

Start 1st 
Training day

2nd/3rd 
training day

4th training 
day

Evaluation of 
training 
linked to 
improved 
outcomes 
April 2016

Slipped
(Please include the 

number of staff who 
attended training?
Number of schools 
trained and to what 

level?
Number of schools 

engaged?
Number of sessions 

attended)
Nearly all objectives met   

In line with 
Corporate 
Priorities:

Priority 2:
Working together 
to raise ambitions 

and drive up 
educational 

achievement

Objective is to 
assess the LAC 
population of 

statutory school 
age across the 

authority.
To ensure a

coordinated 
approach to best 
practice and to 

maximise 

P
age 67



20

and vulnerable groups. attainment, 
wellbeing and 

attendance of LAC 
and those children 
at risk of becoming 
Looked After and 

to ensure
maximum 

engagement in 
education through 

using evidence 
based approach.

Increased number 
of LAC able to re-

engage with 
learning and 

improved 
behaviour, 

attendance and 
attainment.

P
age 68



21

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – BRIDGEND
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY THREE: ‘Closing the gap’ between the attainments of LAC in relation to that of all children in Bridgend

What 
- 

focus
Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of Targets – 
How will this be 

achieved, when  and by 
whom

Appointment of Virtual 
School Head Teacher 

and Pilot Virtual School.  
This will be a phased 

approach initially with a 
part-time secondment 
of a Head Teacher with 

the additional 
responsibility to 
commission the 

development of a 
Virtual School website 
and tracking system, to 

rigorously track and 
monitor data and 

progress of LAC.  This 
role will be supported 
by the LACE Education 
Coordinator and the 
LACE team and then 

moving to the full 

£35,000

Salary

£5,000 set 
up cost of 

system

£0 £35,000

£5,000

December 
2015 

internally 
seek to 
appoint 

secondment

January 2016
Commission 

work to 
develop 
website

January 
2016 

appoint to 
post

February 
2016 

Website to 
be 

completed 
and utilised

Slipped
(What evidence is in 

place to demonstrate 
the impact of this 
activity to date? 
Please make a 

judgement from the 
drop down list?)
Choose an item.

Group manager for 
school improvement 
and LAC Coordinator 

will evaluate and 
monitor impact of 
appointment and 

website.

Impact of this will be 
measured at the end of 

April 2016 after 
completion of website 

and appointment of 
VHT The Virtual School 

will establish strong 
links with the many 
individuals, teams, 

schools and agencies 
that are involved in 

supporting the 
education of the LA’s 

P
age 69



22

concept of a Virtual 
School.

Work to be undertaken 
with schools and 

Challenge Advisors on 
tracking attainment of 

LAC in their schools, 
tracking is fundamental 
to improved outcomes 

for looked after 
children.

No cost 
involved

Meeting with all 
Challenge Advisors 

December 2015

looked after children 
wherever they are 

placed building capacity 
and sustainability.

Under performance 
identified and schools 

to be challenged to 
address and supported 

swiftly

P
age 70



23

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of the Spring 
Term

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – CARDIFF

Targets / Outcomes – To improve outcomes for LAC

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the CSI at key stage 2 and 3

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the level 2 inclusive threshold (L2+) at the end of key stage 4
Priority One

To set up a virtual school to track and monitor closely Looked After Children pupils achievement and attainment
Priority Two To establish termly Looked After Children designated teacher forums to generate school to school support and the sharing of 

good practice
Priority Three To provide out of area bespoke packages for high tariff pupils

Priority Four ‘Closing the gap’ between the attainments of Looked After Children  in relation to that of all children in Cardiff

P
age 71



24

KEY ACTIONS MILESTONES (DEC 15) MILESTONES (APRIL 16)

1.
Establish a data base of all Cardiff Looked After 
Children educated in and outside Cardiff. 
Update termly with teacher assessment data, 
attendance and inclusion data
Update yearly with end of key stage assessments and 
national tests (reading and maths
Track and identify pupils who are at risk of under 
achievement, poor attendance etc. to ensure 
intervention is timely, appropriate and has positive 
impact – RAG system in place

Virtual school is established and tracking of  Looked 
After Children  is effective and identifying pupils at risk 

for appropriate intervention and support 

There is evidence of the impact of closely monitoring 
the pupils and the intervention/support that has been 

put in place by the school in partnership with the  
Looked After Children  team

2.
Termly Looked After Children designated teacher 
forums established

Forums up and running with evidence of good practice 
identified

3.
Bespoke packages for out of county Looked After 
Children   provided as and when necessary

Evidence of impact on pupil attainment and 
achievement at the individual pupil level

4. Work with schools and  pupils to improve inclusion 
in education and attainment 
Provide additional well-being support for Looked After 
Children
Improve outcomes of Yr5,6,10,11
Provide additional resources for Looked after children

To provide mentoring and support for vulnerable 
looked after children

To provide training for pupils, foster carers, social 
workers and care home staff (including attachment 

training)
Provide an IT package, nimbl, for each child in Years 
5,6,10,11. 
Provide GCSE study guides and reading materials

P
age 72



25

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – CARDIFF
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE: To set up a virtual school to track and monitor closely LAC pupils’ achievement and attainment

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring 
of Targets – 

How will this 
be achieved, 
when  and by 

whom
Improve 

tracking data 
held by the 

LA to inform 
early 

intervention

To work with 
appropriate 

body to set up 
a database fit 
for purpose

To devise a 
tracking sheet 
for schools to 
fill on a termly 

basis

To identify a 
person to 

ensure that the 
database is 

regularly 
updated with 

the 
information

Pupils who are 
not making 

£20,000 set up 
costs

£25000 
ongoing 

administration 
(LB)

£20,000 £45000 During 
Summer 

term 
2015

Data base fully 
functional from 
September 2015

Tracking sheet shared 
with all schools in 

training day end April 
2015

Rating system for 
pupils will be 

evaluated at the end of 
Autumn term 2015

Mag meeting end of 
Autumn term discusses 

pupils and additional 
intervention/support 

needed

Under constant review

(What evidence is in 
place to demonstrate 

the impact of this 
activity to date?

How can you 
demonstrate that this 

is an effective 
process?

What information was 
provided with CA’s 
and what was the 

impact?
Please share a one 
page pupil profile?)

(Evidence – an up to 
date register)

Tracking sheet shared 
with all schools in 

training day end April 

The  Looked 
After Children 

Education 
team will ask 
the following 
questions on 

a termly 
basis: 

• How much 
did we do? 
• How well 

did we do it? 
• Is anyone 
better off? 

• How much 
did it cost? 
• Does it 
represent 
value for 
money?

P
age 73



26

adequate 
progress are 

identified on a 
termly basis 

(RAG) system 
used)

Red and amber 
pupils are 

discussed on a 
termly basis in 
Multi agency 

meetings 
(already in 

place in 
Cardiff) and 

actions agreed

2015

Nearly all objectives met   

P
age 74



27

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – CARDIFF
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY TWO:  

To establish termly Looked After Children designated teacher forums to generate school to school support and the sharing of good practice

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On 

Track or Slipped) 
Please indicate and 
provide narrative 

on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

Improve 
communication and 

sharing of good 
practice 

Establish a diary of forum 
dates for the coming year

Venue and 
refreshments 

– 2x £600
£0 £1200

11/15-
03/16

Dec 15
System in 

place

(Evidence - 
Evaluations)

On track

The forum needs to 
be re-established.

Nearly all objectives 
met   

The 
monitoring 

process asks: 
• What was 

the impact of 
the forum?

• How well did 
we do it? 

• Is anyone 
better off? 

• How much 
did it cost? 
• Does it 
represent 
value for 
money?

P
age 75



28

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – CARDIFF
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY THREE:

Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way
To provide bespoke packages for high tariff Looked After Children

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On 

Track or Slipped) 
Please indicate and 
provide narrative 

on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

To support and 
challenge schools 
and settings to 
improve the range 
and quality of 
teaching and 
learning in order 
to increase 
student 
achievement

 Challenge 
underperformance 
at KS2, 3 and 4

To ensure greater 
engagement with 
education and 
improved results

Ensure greater 
engagement with 
education and improved 
results

Provide bespoke 
packages for vulnerable 
pupils as and when 
necessary

Provide bespoke tuition 
and support for 
vulnerable pupils

Allocation 
to fund 
bespoke 
packages
£140000
&
Ta support 
in schools

EOTAS 

£0

£14100

£143420.28 
and 
£12226

£28727

£29760

10/15 – 
03/16

Dec 15
Process 
started

Summer 
2016
60% of KS2 
LAC achieve 
CSI
40% of KS3 
LAC achieve 
CSI
The average 
external 
qualifications 
point score 
for LAC is 200
Pupils gain at 
least the 
level 1 

Slipped

Dec 15 -All schools 
have been 
informed of their 
allocation

The allocations 
have not been 
distributed to 
schools and other 
education 
providers.

Jan 16 – allocations 
sent to schools
(Process is nearly 
all met
Evaluations to 
follow)

Through  
Looked After 
Children 
reviews and 
monitoring of 
PEPs

The packages 
are subject to 
specific 
criteria and 
there will be a 
panel to 
quality assure 
the spending 
plans.

 Impact 
Evaluations 
quality 

P
age 76



29

Provide in school support 
for vulnerable pupils 

Tutors, 
Tutors
New 
Directions 
support 
staff

£14880
threshold

Nearly all objectives 
met   

assured by the 
LACE team on 
a termly basis.

The Impact 
Evaluation 
process asks: 
• How much 
did we do? 
• How well did 
we do it? 
• Is anyone 
better off? 
• How much 
did it cost? 
• Does it 
represent 
value for 
money?

XXXX Term Evaluations
Judgements about progress linked to the milestones
Actions taken / not
Evidence
Barriers

P
age 77



30

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – CARDIFF

LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY FOUR: 

 ‘Closing the gap’ between the attainments of Looked After Children  in relation to that of all children in Cardiff

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 

2015

£

Projected Out 
turn March 

2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 

(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on 

Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How will 
this be achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

P
age 78



31

To work with 
schools and  pupils 

to improve 
inclusion in 

education and 
attainment at KS4

Choose an item.

To work with 
schools and pupils 

to improve 
inclusion in 

education and 
attainment of OOC 

looked after 
children and for 
YR6-7 transition

Choose an item.

To provide 
additional well-

being support for 
Looked After 

Children

To provide mentoring 
and support for 

vulnerable looked after 
children

To provide mentoring 
and support for 

vulnerable looked after 
children

To provide training for 
pupils, foster carers, 

social workers and care 
home staff (including 
attachment training)

Provide an IT package, 
nimbl, for each child in 

Years 5,6,10,11.

Provide GCSE study 
guides and reading 

materials

Provide Letterbox 
resources via 
subscription

Member of 
staff (RW)

Member of 
staf

0.6 
Educational 
Psychologist 
time (JP, FP)

Nimbl 
licence

Study 
guides, 
reading 

age- 
appropriate 

books

Letterbox 
packs

£0

£15000

£19000

£0

£1560

£15000

£30000

£1000 
travel costs 

(MH and 
RW)

£38000

£9000

£1560

£4105

Grand 
Total! =

£347,334.50

09/15-
03/16

January 
2016

Regular 
monitoring of 

progress is built 
into the 
package

Virtual tracker, 
spreadsheet 

tracker
On track

Virtual tracker, 
spreadsheet 

tracker
On track

EP reports

On track

The Impact 
Evaluation 

process asks:

• How much 
did we do?

• How well did 
we do it?

• Is anyone 
better off?

• How much 
did it cost?

• Does it 
represent value 

for money?

P
age 79



32

To improve 
outcomes of 
Yr5,6,10,11

(Evaluations)

Choose an item.

To provide 
additional 

resources for 
Looked after 

children

(How many pupils 
have accessed this 

process?)

Choose an item.

XXXX Term Evaluations

Judgements about progress linked to the milestones

Actions taken / not

Evidence

P
age 80



33

Barriers

P
age 81



34

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of the Spring 
Term

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN - MERTHYR TYDFIL CBC 

Priority One To increase the % of looked after children achieving the level 2 inclusive threshold (L2 inc) at the end of key stage 4 

Priority Two To increase the % of looked after children achieving the CSI at key stage 2 and 3 

TARGETS -
LAC

NB: small 
cohorts

2013/14 Actual 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PRIORITY 
ONE

16.6% achieved the level 2 
inclusive threshold
WA 17%  2012/13

24% are expected to achieve the 
level 2 inclusive threshold

XX % level 2 inclusive threshold
School based targets

XX % level 2 inclusive threshold
School based targets

PRIORITY 
TWO

36.4% achieved the CSI at key 
stage 2.

WA 59%  2012/13
33.3% achieved the CSI at key 

stage  3
WA 46%  2012/13

58% predicted to achieve the CSI 
at key stage 2.

73% predicted to achieve the CSI 
at key stage 3.

XX % achieving the CSI at key 
stage 2

XX % achieving the CSI at key 
stage  3

School based targets

XX % achieving the CSI at key 
stage 2

XX % achieving the CSI at key 
stage  3

School based targets

PRIORITY 
THREE

Increase in foster carer 
attendance at training.

Foster carers to read regularly 
with LAC.

P
age 82



35

Improve foster carers literacy 
skills to minimum standard.

Attained qualifications

P
age 83



36

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN - MERTHYR TYDFIL CBC 

LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITIES ONE AND TWO: 

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the CSI at key stage 2 and 3

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the level 2 inclusive threshold (L2 inc) at the end of key stage 4

What - focus Milestones Actions Resources/cost 
implications

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

Projected 
out turn 
March 
2016

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Progress update 
(Achieved, on 

track or slipped).  
Please indicate 

and provide 
narrative on 

progress 
outputs/outcome

Monitoring 
of Targets – 

How will this 
be achieved, 
when  and by 

whom

(1) 
Appointment 

and 
deployment 

of staff

Appointed 
by 

September 
2015

Programme 
development, 
delivery and 
evaluation

All pupils are on 
track to meet 

targets each term.

All pupils are on 
track to meet 

targets each term

An increase in 
pupil self-esteem  

(evidenced via soft 
outcome data)

Appoint two 
appropriately 

qualified teachers 
to deliver focused 

additional after 
school tuition 

across key stage 3 
and 4 and 

support children 
excluded from 

school.

Employ private 
agency tuition for 

Merthyr Tydfil 
looked after 

pupils unable to 

Initial projected 
cost: £71,034

2 x qualified 
teachers 

(classroom level, 
max spine point 

M2, 20% 
additional 

allocated for on 
costs): 

£57,033.60

Mileage costs: 
allocate £9,000 

per annum.

£0 £49,000

As above

Programme 
to be 

delivered 
from 

September 
2015

Slipped
Due to 

recruitment 
delays, progress 

in this activity has 
been delayed.  It 

is anticipated that 
post holders will 
be in place from 
October 2015.

 
(How do we know 

the impact)
Choose an item.

Please note that 
these posts are 

LAC 
Education 

Coordinator 
MTCBC using 

impact 
evaluations

P
age 84



37

access this service 
due to logistical 

constraints

Develop a 
personalised 

additional tuition 
programme for 
each targeted 

individual young 
person in line 
with existing 

documents such 
as PEP and school 

based plans.
Use existing 
evaluative 

framework to 
review progress.

Agency tuition: 
allocate £5,000

now expected to 
be in place from 
October 2015-

March 31st 2015.  
For this reason, 
the projected 
costs for this 

activity reduce to 
approximately 

£35,000 including 
on costs.  As a 
result of this 
underspend, 

further extension 
interventions are 
discussed in this 
adjusted plan.
(What are the 
costs and the 

dates?)
Choose an item.

(2)
In school 
bespoke 
flexible 

packages of 
enhanced 

support for 

All pupils are on 
track to meet 

targets each term.

Consistent cross 
consortia 

application form 
to be devised for 

schools

Schools apply for 

£50,738 
(Delegated to 

schools)

At Aug 2015 
there were 39 
Merthyr Tydfil 

£4,454.35 £46,283.65 September 
2015

On track - A fully 
operational PDG 
LAC panel is now 

in place with 
representatives 
from children’s 
services in RCT 

LAC 
coordinator 

evaluates 
impact and 

value for 
money within 

MTCBC.

P
age 85



38

LAC across the 
key stages

PDG LAC funding 
against set 

criteria; including 
building capacity.

LAC coordinator 
chairs local panel 
process to review 

and agree 
applications.

Schools 
implement 

packages to meet 
needs precisely, 
schools required 
to re-apply for 

continued 
support on a 

termly basis if 
required using 

agreed 
framework.

pupils and 21 
out of county 

LAC educated in 
schools in the 

borough.

and MT, as well 
as primary and 

secondary 
schools in both 

authorities.  The 
panel meets on a 
monthly basis to 

consider 
applications 

made by schools 
against set 

criteria; including 
sustainability and 
building capacity.

(How many 
schools received 

funding? 11 
schools)

Choose an item.

LAC 
Education 

Coordinators 
across the 5 

LA’s to 
evaluate 

impact and 
value for 

money across 
the region 

through peer 
reviews.  

Pupil voice to 
contribute to 
these reviews 
using agreed 
framework.

(3)
School staff 
are able to 

access 
training and 
support to 

provide 

Commissioning of 
the work

Completion of the 
document

Publication and 

Development of 
‘LAC Friendly 

School’ resource 
file that contains 

the key 
information 

Total Cost - 
£25,000

Cost to Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC- 

£12,500
to include costs 

of 

£0 £12,500 November 
2015

March 2016
April – May 

2016

On track in line 
with timescales 

specified in 
original spending 

plan.

Most objectives met

Consultation 
responses to  
draft versions 

of the 
documents

Final 

P
age 86



39

appropriately 
for the needs 

of LAC.

LAC 
coordinators 

work together 
to identify 
innovation 
and what 

works

dissemination to 
schools

needed by 
designated 

teachers and all 
staff  to assist 

them in working 
more effectively 

to improve 
outcomes

commissioning 
the work needed 

to prepare the 
resource and to 

fund its 
publication and 

dissemination to 
all schools

Please note that 
this will be a 
joint project 

undertaken with 
RCT and the 

costs will be split 
accordingly.

document is 
completed

(4)
‘Closing the 

gap’
between the 
attainments 

of LAC in 
relation to 
that of all 
children in 

Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Collation of literacy 
and numeracy data 

for targeted year 
groups

Pupils who would 
benefit from the 

planned 
intervention are 

identified

Targeted literacy 
and numeracy 

interventions for 
looked after 

pupils at 
foundation phase 
and key stage 2 

and 3.

Pupils requiring 
support will be 
identified from 

end of year data 
for literacy and 

numeracy.

£9,000

6 pupils
(includes 

Merthyr Tydfil 
out of county 

pupils)
£10 hour / 5 

hours weekly/ 
30 weeks)

£9,000 
committed, 

invoices 
awaited.

£9,000 July 2015

August 
2015

On track - Pupils 
identified based 
on attainment 

data and funding 
allocated to 

schools.  Impact 
will be evaluated 

using results 
based 

accountability 
model.

(How well did the 
6 achieve? What 
evidence is there 

of their 

Pre and post 
intervention 

data

P
age 87



40

Schools to be 
allocated funding 
directly to use on 

structured 
literacy and 
numeracy 

interventions.

attainment and 
achievement?)

Choose an item.

(5)
Plans are 

based on the 
Voice of the 

Child

LAC 
coordinators 

work together 
to identify 
innovation 
and what 

works

Preparation of key 
questions to 
consult on

Commissioning of 
a company such as 

Dynamix

Completion of a 
report that 

summarises views 
and can be used in 

2016-2017 
planning for LAC

To work with 
representatives of 

the LAC 
population to 

ensure that their 
voice is sought on 
a range of issues 

and used to 
inform the 

development of 
practice and 

commissioning of 
services across 

the county.

Total Cost - 
£6,000

Cost to Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC - 

£3,000

Please note that 
this will be a 
joint project 

undertaken with 
RCT and the 

costs will be split 
accordingly.  
This piece of 
work will also 

support in 
informing the 

development of 
the ‘LAC Friendly 
School’ resource 

file.

£0 £3,000

December  
2015

January 
2016

March 2016

On track in line 
with timescales 

specified in 
original spending 

plan.
Nearly all objectives 

met   

Report of 
consultation 

responses 
that informs 

Merthyr 
Tydfil of the 

voice of their 
pupils with 
regard to 
many key 

issues

XXXX Term Evaluations
Judgements about progress linked to the milestones

P
age 88



41

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of the Spring 
Term

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  RCT

Targets / Outcomes: 

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the CSI at key stage 2 and 3

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the level 2 inclusive threshold (L2+) at the end of key stage 4

PRIORITY ONE Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way

PRIORITY TWO School staff are able to access training and support to provide appropriately for the needs of LAC

PRIORITY THREE Plans are based on the Voice of the Child

PRIORITY FOUR LAC coordinators work together to identify innovation and what works

PRIORITY FIVE ‘Closing the gap’ between the attainments of LAC in relation to that of all children in RCT

P
age 89



42

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  RCT
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY ONE: Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way

What - 
focus Actions Resources

Actual as at 
September 2015

£

Projected Out 
turn March 

2016
£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestone
s

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track or 

Slipped) Please indicate and 
provide narrative on 

Progress Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring 
of Targets – 

How will 
this be 

achieved, 
when  and 
by whom

Provision is 
in place at 
the right 

time and in 
the right 

place

Provision of 
time limited, 

bespoke 
packages of 
support for 
high need 

LAC. Primarily 
this will be 
focused on 
pupils who 

are unable to 
access 

education 
due to their 

care 
circumstance

s but 
consideration 

would be 
given to 

other 
requests that 

Approximatel
y

£60,000

£0 Approximatel
y

£60,000

Pupils are 
engaged in 
education 

whilst 
waiting for 
educationa

l 
placement

s

Sept- April 
2016

Slipped
Bespoke packages are 

currently being allocated

(11 schools received bespoke 
funding)

Nearly all objectives met   

Reduction 
in 

education 
days lost by 
pupils who 

are not able 
to access an 
educational 
placement

LAC 
Education 

Coordinator 
RCT using 

impact 
evaluations 
on a termly 

basis

(Please 
share the 

evidence – 

P
age 90



43

maybe 
appropriate 
eg art and 

play therapy

(6 pupils 
recieved pt))

such as 
attendance 

and 
exclusion 

data)

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  RCT
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY TWO AND FOUR: School staff are able to access training and support to provide appropriately for the needs of LAC 

LAC coordinators work together to identify innovation and what works

What - 
focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

Septembe
r 2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 

March 2016
£ When (Exact 

Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On 

Track or Slipped) 
Please indicate 

and provide 
narrative on 

Progress 
Outputs/Outcome

s

Monitoring 
of Targets – 

How will 
this be 

achieved, 
when  and 
by whom

LAC 
coordinator

s work 
together to 

identify 
innovation 
and what 

works

Development 
of ‘LAC 
Friendly 
School’ 

resource file 
that contains 

the key 
information 
needed by 
designated 

teachers and 
all staff  to 

£15,000
to include costs of 
commissioning the 

work needed to 
prepare the resource 

and to fund its 
publication and 

dissemination to all 
schools

£0 £15,000 Commissioning of 
the work

Completion of 
the document

Publication and 
dissemination to 

schools

November 
2015

March 2016
April – May 

2016

Slipped 
This is in the 

planning stage.

Most objectives met

Consultatio
n responses 

to  draft 
versions of 

the 
documents

Final 
document 

is 
completed

P
age 91



44

assist them in 
working 

more 
effectively to 

improve 
outcomes

LAC 
Education 

Coordinator 
RCT using 

impact 
evaluations 
on a termly 

basis

P
age 92



45

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  RCT
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY THREE: Plans are based on the Voice of the Child

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

LAC 
coordinators 

work together 
to identify 
innovation 
and what 

works

To work with 
representatives of 

the LAC population to 
ensure that their 

voice is sought on a 
range of issues and 
used to inform the 

development of 
practice and 

commissioning of 
services  across the 

county

£6,000 £0 £6,000

Preparation of 
key questions to 

consult on

Commissioning of 
a company such 

as Dynamix

Completion of a 
report that 
summarises 

views and can be 
used in 2016-

2017 planning for 
LAC

December  
2015

January 
2016

March 
2016

Slipped
This action does not 

begin until December 
2016.

Nearly all objectives met   

Report of 
consultation 

responses that 
informs RCT of 

the voice of 
their pupils 

with regard to 
many issues

LAC Education 
Coordinator 

RCT using 
impact 

evaluations on 
a termly basis

P
age 93



46

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN –  RCT
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY FIVE: ‘Closing the gap’ between the attainments of LAC in relation to that of all children in RCT

What - 
focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 

March 2016
£

When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On Track 
or Slipped) Please 

indicate and provide 
narrative on 

Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, when  
and by whom

To ensure 
that the 

emotional 
wellbeing 
needs of 

LAC pupils 
are being 
addressed 
by schools

Establishment of a 
system that will 

enable schools to 
provide additional 

support to their 
LAC pupils with 

identified areas of 
need. This system 

will:
Be bid based
Be outcome 

focused
Require evidence 

of needs with clear 
link to actions 

proposed
Be closely 

monitored through 
a requirement for 

evidence of 

£233,122

To be 
allocated on 
a school by 
school basis

£0 £233,122

(Actual 
£287,078.66)

Bid system 
developed 

and 
disseminated 

to schools

Initial bid 
applications 

received from 
schools

MA panel to 
have met and 

allocated 
initial tranche 

of funding 
directly to 

schools

Deadline for 

July 2015

Mid 
September 

2015

End of 
September 

2015

Dec 2015

Slipped
Bespoke packages 
are currently being 

allocated

Process is ...
Nearly all objectives met   

LAC Coordinators 
(RCT & MT) Head 

of Educational 
Psychology 

Service (RCT & 
MT) and Multi 
Agency Panel 

members from 
Children’s 

Services and 
school 

representative

All bids to 
include clear and 

measurable 
outcomes

Once 
interventions 

P
age 94



47

progress against 
targets

Be agreed by a 
multi agency panel 
that will include a 
LAC Coordinator 

from a 
neighbouring Local 

Authority, 
Children’s Services 

and a school 
representative

receipt of 
additional 

bids

Allocation of 
all resources

Monitoring  
outcome 

returns to be 
received

Jan 2016

On-going
throughout 
Sept - April 
2016  but 

final 
monitoring 

of all 
resources 

allocated to 
be 

completed 
by end of 
April 2016

completed an 
outcomes 

monitoring 
record to be 
submitted by 

schools

Provision of 
specialised tuition 
that is focused on 

improving the 
GCSE outcomes at 

KS4 of all LAC 
pupils. This 

intervention will 
be:

Targeted via data 
monitoring; and

£ 77,000

1 HLTAs @ 
£31,000 inc 

on costs
£5000 – 

resources and 
training

(Pre and post 
assessment)

£31,000 to be 
allocated 

£0 £ 77,000 Appointment 
of an 

additional 
HLTA

Collation of 
data for year 

9 pupils

Identification 
of pupils to be 

targeted

Sept 2015

July 2015

August 2015

Schools accessed 
tuition for Years 6, 9, 

10 and 11.

Slipped
Bespoke packages 
are currently being 

allocated

Half of objectives met

Modular 
assessment 
outcomes

Half termly 
progress updates 

provided by 
schools

Termly HLTA 
progress reports

KS4 results for 

P
age 95



48

Respond to 
individual referrals

Some funding will 
also be allocated 

directly to schools 
to supplement the 
use of the central 

resource. This is an 
alternative option 

available for 
schools to provide 
tuition themselves 
if they choose. This 
is in line with the 
national move to 

increasing 
delegation of 

funds

A small amount of 
resource will be 

retained to 
provide individual 

tuition in other 
subjects where 

this will be 
appropriate for 
specific pupils

directly to 
schools
(Schools 
impact 

evaluation 
form and had 
an additional 
application 

process.)

£10,000 for 
individual 

subject 
tuition ( 250 
hours which 

would 
support 1 
hour /30 
weeks for

8  - 9 pupils

Pupils receive 
support

September 
2015 

onwards

Year 11 pupils  - 
Aug 2016

The Impact 
Evaluation 

process asks: 
• How much did 

we do? 
• How well did 

we do it? 
• Is anyone 
better off? 

• How much did 
it cost? 

• Does it 
represent value 

for money?

P
age 96



49

Targeted literacy 
and numeracy 

interventions for 
Year 5/6 pupils in 
preparation for 

their move to Key 
Stage 3

Pupils requiring 
support will be 
identified from 

end of Year 5 data 
for literacy and 

numeracy.

Schools to be 
allocated funding 
directly to use on 
structured literacy 

and numeracy 
interventions

£37,500

25 pupils
(includes RCT 
out of county 

pupils)
£10 hour / 5 

hours weekly/ 
30 weeks) 
(Schools 

submitted 
additional 

information)

£0 £37,500

Collation of 
literacy and 
numeracy 

data for year 
5 pupils

Pupils who 
would benefit 

from the 
planned 

intervention 
are identified

Letters are 
sent to 
schools 

informing 
them of the 

funding; aims 
and 

expectations

Monitoring 
contacts are 

made with all 
schools

July 2015

August 2015

September 
2015

Late October 
– November 

2015

Slipped

Interventions are 
currently being 

allocated

Most objectives met

Pre and post 
intervention data

Monitoring 
contacts

(amount of 
sessions is 
unverified)

The Impact 
Evaluation 

process asks: 
• How much did 

we do? 
• How well did 

we do it? 
• Is anyone 
better off? 

• How much did 
it cost? 

• Does it 
represent value 

for money?

P
age 97



50

Completed by the end of Autumn 
half term

Completed by the end of Autumn 
Term

Completed by the end of Spring half 
Term

Completed by the end of the Spring 
Term

FPOI KS2 KS3 CSI KS4 2014
O5+ L4+ L5+ L1 L2 L2+

2012 33 83 50 73 47 20
2015 80 62 25 58 58 17

TOTAL: £425,700
(£2922 under spend)

Within RCT we work closely with our colleagues in Merthyr Tydfil. Our plans have been shared with MT and the intention is to work closely on projects 
and actions that can be shared e.g. Voice of Child and training.

At this stage the costs are mostly approximate. At regular points throughout the implementation period the spending will be reviewed to ensure that 
resources are moved from areas of low demand to those of high demand as appropriate. 

Where there is slippage then extension interventions are planned. These include: 
promotion of ELSA for foster carers; engagement of additional schools to the Thrive programme; application of the Year 6 literacy and numeracy 
interventions to include short periods of intervention for children coming into care 

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – VALE OF GLAMORGAN
Targets / Outcomes: 

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the CSI at key stage 2 and 3

To increase the % of looked after children achieving the level 2 inclusive threshold (L2+) at the end of key stage 4
PRIORITY ONE

Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way

P
age 98



51

DIFFERENCE +47 -21 -25 -15 +11 -3

LOCAL AUTHORITY PLAN – VALE OF GLAMORGAN
LOCAL AUTHORITY PRIORITY THREE: Provision is in place at the right time and in the right place and in the most efficient and effective way

What - focus Actions Resources

Actual as 
at 

September 
2015

£

Projected 
Out turn 
March 
2016

£

When 
(Exact 
Dates)

Milestones

Progress Update 
(Achieved, On 

Track or Slipped) 
Please indicate and 
provide narrative 

on Progress 
Outputs/Outcomes

Monitoring of 
Targets – How 

will this be 
achieved, 

when  and by 
whom

To support and 
challenge schools 

and settings to 
improve the 

range and quality 
of teaching and 

learning in order 
to increase 

student 
achievement

Schools are supported by the 
authorities in the provision of 
specific specialist support to 
deliver the PEP. This is provided 
in the most effective way to 
meet the needs of the children 
in the authority.

There is a robust evaluation 
process in place in each 
authority which reviews impact 
and vfm and across the region 
there are peer reviews of 
provision and impact mapped 
and reviewed termly.

Challenge underperformance at 
KS2, 3 and 4

Allocation 
to fund 
bespoke 
packages

£0
£77723

£129,415
4/15 – 
10/15

Dec 15
Process started

Summer 2016
60% of KS2 LAC 

achieve CSI
40% of KS3 LAC 

achieve CSI
The average 

external 
qualifications 

point score for 
LAC is 200

Slipped

Multi agency panels 
are not in place to 

approve the bespoke 
packages. 

December 2015
Cross Authority panel 
sat to approve school 

spending plans 

48% of approved 
spending was 

allocated to schools 

Through LAC 
reviews and 

monitoring of 
PEPs

The packages are 
subject to 

specific criteria 
and there will be 
a panel to quality 

assure the 
spending plans.

 Impact 
Evaluations 

quality assured 
by the LACE 

team on a termly 
basis.

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



‘Putting children first…… helping 
schools improve’

Gosod 
plant yn Gyntaf…… yn helpu i 

wella ysgolion 

‘Putting children first…… helping 
schools improve’

Gosod 
plant yn Gyntaf…… yn helpu i 

wella ysgolion 

LACES (Looked 
After Children 

Education 
Support) Plan
2014 - 2016

Community Services
Children’s Services 

APPENDIX III

Page 101



CONTENTS

Page 
No(s)

1.0 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 3

2.0 KEY OBJECTIVES 4

3.0 NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT 5

4.0 LACES SERVICES

Structure ..........................................................................................................................................
SWOT Analysis..................................................................................................................................

6

6
7

5.0 NATIONAL PLANS AND GUIDANCE 8

6.0 MAKING IT HAPPEN 9-10

7.0 MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW

Attainment ......................................................................................................................................
PEPS .................................................................................................................................................
LAC attendance ................................................................................................................................
LAC Exclusions .................................................................................................................................
LACES Recipient Consultation ..........................................................................................................      

11-16

11-13
14
14
15

       16

8.0 CONCLUSIONS 17

Page 102



3

1.0 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

1.1 LACES (Looked after Children Education Support Service) are a team who offer support to 
looked after children, social workers, schools and foster carers to ensure that all children and 
young people in care have access to a good quality, appropriate education and the necessary 
support to fulfil their potential. The roles and responsibilities of the team, in line with the 
‘Towards a brighter life and stable future’ (WAG, 2007) document and the Children Act (2004) 
also encompass a duty, in conjunction with leaving care services to ensure that Merthyr Tydfil 
care leavers are fully supported to maximise their life chances. 

1.2 Arranged in a cluster model, there is an allocated LACES officer for each Merthyr Tydfil school 
and each out of county school that has a Merthyr Tydfil looked after pupil on roll.  The service 
consists of a part time LAC Education Coordinator, 3 term time only Learning Support Officers 
and a part time Personal Education Plan Coordinator.  It is managed by the LAC Education 
Coordinator who in turn is line managed by the Principal Manager for Services that Support 
Permanence.

1.3 The LACES service works closely in conjunction with fellow cluster services including the 
Educational Psychology Service, The Pupil Inclusion Team and the Additional Learning Needs 
Team. 

Page 103



4

2.0 KEY OBJECTIVES

 To promote the education of all looked after children placed within and out of area, monitoring 
attendance, exclusion, progress and achievement data.

 To work towards the Welsh Government objectives on the education of looked after children.  

 To ensure that all children and young people in care have access to an appropriate full time 
education that meets their social, emotional and academic needs

 To ensure, in line with Welsh Government guidelines, that every looked after child and young 
person has a high quality personal education plan in place within 20 school days of entering 
care or changing school.  To provide guidance to relevant groups on their implementation.

 To recognise and celebrate all achievements in children and young people in local authority 
care, however small. To celebrate these achievements in line with the children/young peoples 
wishes.  

 To help create opportunities for children and young people in care to succeed in their chosen 
field.  

 To offer support (pastoral, academic and/or transitional) to all looked after children and young 
people who require it.   

 To work closely with all relevant agencies to improve the educational opportunities for children 
and young people in care.  

 To develop working relationships with other authorities in relation to out of area placements 
and protocols.  

 To offer transition support to all relevant looked after children and care leavers.  

 To liaise with Careers Wales and Youth Services to ensure appropriate and timely support and 
access to universal entitlements

 To disseminate good practice, including training for elected members, foster carers, social 
workers, school governors and designated teachers;

 To track children and young people from other local authorities and liaise with the relevant lead 
person from the corporate parent authority on educational provision, progress and transitional 
arrangements.

 To work closely with all relevant agencies to ensure that exclusions for children and young 
people in public care are reduced through early intervention and the use of appropriate 
strategies.  To provide challenge in the case of exclusion.  

Page 104



5

3.0 NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT

3.1 5,755 children were looked after by Welsh local authorities at 31st March 2014.

3.2 At a national level, despite improvements in recent years, the achievements of looked 
after children remains low in comparison to their peers.  17% of looked after pupils at the 31st 
March 2014 gained the level 2 inclusive threshold (equivalent to 5 GCSEs at grade A*-C 
including English or Welsh and Mathematics) in the 2012-2013 academic year.  This figure 
compares with 55% for all pupils in Wales.  

3.2 Merthyr Tydfil experiences significant socio-economic challenges. We know as an LEA that 
there is a higher proportion of looked after children (LAC) than the average in communities 
with similar levels of deprivation.   

3.3 A large number of our looked after children have additional learning needs.  In July 2014, LACES 
research showed that over 59% of all statutory school aged Merthyr Tydfil looked after 
children/young people had additional learning needs sufficient for intervention at school 
action, school action plus or statementing level.  Of this cohort, 17% had a statement of special 
educational need maintained by the LEA. In light of this fact, it is important that consideration is 
given to achievement in looked after children as well as attainment.

3.4 The educational settings of all Merthyr Tydfil Looked after Children and Young People of 
statutory school age.

Education Setting Number of LAC % of LAC
Mainstream 77 66.4% (3.4% rise on 2012 

figure)
Mainstream with Support 8 6.9% (1.9% rise of 2012 

figure)
LRB (Learning Resource Base Class) or Special Needs Class 12 10.3% (1.7% drop on 2012 

figure)
Special Tuition 1 0.9% (0.9% increase on 2012 

figure)
PRU (Pupil Referral Unit) 2 1.7% (4.3% drop on 2012 

figure)
Special School 12 10.3% (0.3% increase on 2012 

figure) 
Private Residential School/Weekly Boarding 4 3.4% (0.6% drop on 2012 

figure)

 *Data collected March 2014; please note mainstream with support does not include those receiving LACES 
support.

3.6 Figures obtained from the LAC Clinical Nurse Specialist suggest that of the July 2012 statutory 
school aged Merthyr Tydfil LAC population; just over 17% were receiving support from CAMHS, 
in July 2014 this figure was just 0.8%.  

3.7 Between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014 11.2% of Merthyr Tydfil statutory school aged LAC 
experienced at least one or more non-transitional school move.  This is a 5.5% decrease on the 
previous years figure.  Minimised disruption to education is always considered a priority when 
formulating permanence plans for young people. 

Page 105



6

4.0 LACES SERVICES

4.1 Structure

Children’s Services

Principal Manager 
for Services that 

Support 
Permanence

The LAC Education Coordinator 
(LACES Team Leader, 30 hrs. p/w 

term time, 22hrs p/w school 
holidays)

3 Learning Support Assistants 
(29 hrs per week, term time only)

1 PEP Coordinator: 18.5 hrs. p/w

4.2 LACES continuing professional development

Staff appraisals are a fundamental component of the staff development of the LACES team. 
They help to generate profiles that are intended to assist staff to review their competencies 
and to identify and articulate any staff development needs in line with the vision of the LACES.  
LACES meets on a fortnightly basis for full team meetings and supervision is accessed on a 
monthly basis by all team members.

4.3 A LACES training needs analysis is undertaken on an annual basis.  The following courses have 
been accessed by LACES team members:

             
Learning Support Assistants’ Annual Conference, Safeguarding Children, Dealing with Challenging Behaviour, 
Getting Connected Training, Parenting Children with Disordered Attachments, Catch Up Training, The Importance 
of Attachment in Early Childhood, CACHE Level 3 NVQ in Children’s Care, Learning and Development, Behaviour 
Toolbox (Primary Mental Health Team), Advanced Child Protection training – Policy and Process, Cognitive 
Behavioural Therapy, Therapeutic Approaches to Challenging Behaviour, Hidden Harm Training, Caring for Children 
and Young People Involved in Sexually Harmful Behaviour, Safeguarding Children Involved in Sexual Exploitation, 
Trauma triggered behaviour in looked after and adopted children, Attachment in the classroom, Neuroscience and 
physiological development and the impact of trauma in children, Making a Connection: A focus on the needs of 
young people leaving care, Pupil Centred Approach Training, Louise Bomber Attachment in the Classroom Training.  
Supporting the pupil who has experienced significant relational traumas and losses, data protection and 
information management, attachment difficulties, level 2 safeguarding children, ELSA Training.  

Schools

Inclusion 
Services 

ALN Services

Foster Carers

Social Workers

Page 106



7

4.4 SWOT Analysis

4.4.1 Strengths of the LACES Service

The LACES Service:

- has experienced, qualified and committed staff at all levels;
- has valuable links with the Educational and Child Psychology Service and other cluster model 

teams within the LEA.
- has a robust policy in relation to informal support and supervision;
- contributes to school improvement;
- has good relationships with all schools in Merthyr Tydfil and out of county.  
- has positive relationships with foster carers;
- has good relationships with specialist services such as Careers Wales and Barnardos;
- has good inter-LEA working arrangements with other LEAs, enhanced by the Central South 

Consortium;
- provides an easily accessible service;
- provides relevant training, to schools, carers and relevant professionals; 
- has a flexible approach to additional learning needs;
- has a well motivated staff base with a positive attitude to work;
- has the ability to work under pressure and meet deadlines;
- has good within team working relationships; and
- has a dedicated part time administration support/Personal Education Plan Coordinator.

4.4.2 Weaknesses of the LACES Service

The LACES Service:

- is stretched in regards to its workforce (currently 3 LSA’s cover 4 Merthyr Tydfil secondary 
schools, one special school and all primary school feeders).  The LAC Education Coordinator 
maintains case responsibility for all out of county cases.

- is stretched by increases in the Merthyr Tydfil LAC population.
- is stretched by the logistical constraints of a high number of Merthyr Tydfil LAC placed out of 

county, some at a significant distance away; and
- lacks a dedicated Educational Psychologist for LAC.  

4.4.3 Threats to the LACES Service include:

- The difficulty in meeting increasing demand, particularly for those who are placed at 
significant distance from their home authority.  

- A need to cut local authority budgets.  
- A high demand for specialist educational placements that are equipped to meet the needs of 

our highly complex looked after children.  

Page 107



8

5.0 NATIONAL PLANS AND GUIDANCE

5.1 The service is influenced and shaped by the following national plans, strategies and priorities.

5.1.1 National Plans 

a) Towards a Stable Life and Brighter Future (2007)

Welsh Assembly Government guidance and regulations that strengthen the placement, 
education and wellbeing of looked after children and young people. The arrangements are 
intended to ensure that decisions are made in the best interests of the child and that 
placements are made close to home wherever possible. They are also intended to improve the 
coordination between agencies and the regulations use powers, provided under the Children 
Act 2004, to ensure that all agencies co-operate fully in delivering their corporate parenting 
responsibilities.

b) The Education (Admission of Looked After Children) (Wales) Regulations 2009

Regulations on the admission arrangements under which LAC pupils are to be admitted to 
maintained schools in Wales in the school year 2010/2011 and any subsequent school year.

c) The Children Act (2004)

The Children Act 2004 placed a duty on services to ensure that every child, whatever their 
background or circumstances, has the support they need to be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and 
achieve through learning, make a positive contribution to society and achieve economic 
wellbeing.

d) The Belonging Regulations (1996) and Amendments to the Belonging Regulations (2009)

The Belonging Regulations make provision for determining the local education authority to 
whose area a young person belongs.  These regulations apply for the purposes of recoupment 
and mandatory awards.

e)  If This Were My Child – A councillor’s guide to being a good corporate - 2009

Published by the Welsh Government and the Welsh Local Government Association, this 
document is intended to remind elected members of their responsibility to act as good 
corporate parents to children who are looked after and care leavers.  

Page 108



9

6.0 MAKING IT HAPPEN

6.1 Strategies, in addition to the LACES cluster model support system, currently being employed to 
help achieve the key objectives:

 Personalised Education Plans (PEPS) for each Merthyr Tydfil looked after child/young person - 
These plans are designed to establish clear targets and actions to respond effectively to each 
child’s needs and provide a continuous record of their achievements.  They are also an 
opportunity to listen to child/young person, record their hopes and worries and clearly show 
their stated aspirations.  A PEP meeting is set up within 20 school days for each looked after child 
who becomes accommodated by the Local Authority or changes school.  LACES, social worker, 
foster carers, school, young person and parents (if appropriate) are invited to this meeting to 
share relevant background information and update the plan accordingly.  These plans are 
reviewed on a regular basis in line with the LAC review process.  

 Pupil Deprivation Grant LAC Funding (PDG LAC) –     The LAC element of the PDG in 2014-2015 
was allocated to schools on the basis of £918 per statutory school aged looked after child on 
their roll, and £450 per relevant looked after child in 2013-2014.  From 2015-2016 PDG LAC will 
be managed and administered by the regional education consortia to deliver interventions and 
support on a strategic level. The focus remains increasing literacy and numeracy levels and 
closing the gap.  Looked after pupil numbers eligible for this grant are calculated on Social 
Services SSDA data from the previous year.  

 School Effectiveness Grant LAC Funding (SEGLAC) – This funding stream was managed centrally 
by the LAC Education Coordinator.  This funding was currently used to address the following 
needs: 
1) To offer bespoke school support packages to key stage 1 and 2 out of county looked after 

children who are at risk of not achieving the CSI at the end of key stage 2.
2) To offer focused English and Mathematics tuition to looked after children with the intention 

of raising the percentage of pupils achieving the Level 2 inclusive threshold and the CSI at the 
end of key stage 3. 

3) As detailed within Higher Education Bursary Regulations, to provide a £2,000 payment to 
each relevant care leavers who moves on to access a HE course.  

4) To offer bespoke packages of support to Merthyr Tydfil looked after pupils who are at risk of 
exclusion and not achieving a level 1 or level 2 inclusive threshold.  

Regular reviews of progression and attainment data allowed us to ensure that we were targeting 
need appropriately. From 2015-2016, SEGLAC funding ceased and alternative funding 
arrangements are being arranged via PDG LAC.  

Page 109



10

 Additional after School Tuition – additional focused tuition is available to all looked after 
children/young people and this is readily taken up.  Prior to tuition commencing, a meeting takes 
place between the tutor, the school, young person and carer to agree priorities, actions and 
anticipated outcomes.  A learning plan is drawn up for each individual pupil and reviewed on a 
regular basis.

 Foster carer training, supervision and development – Foster carers have a pivotal role to play in 
promoting education and championing good outcomes for the young people in their care.  It is 
essential that foster carers are aspirational for our looked after children, recognise their 
strengths and talents and support to nurture and develop these skills.  Training is offered to 
carers on promoting a 24 hour curriculum giving them the skills and techniques they need to 
support in delivering better outcomes for looked after children.  

 The Letterbox Club – This Book Trust Cymru project intends to raise literacy and numeracy levels 
in key stage 2 and 3 looked after children through personalised monthly parcels containing 
literacy and numeracy resources.  

 Transitional support – in addition to the transitional support that is offered by dedicated LACES 
officers to statutory school aged pupils as they move through the key stages, we also recognise 
the importance of clear formalised arrangements and protocols to support the transition of 
looked after pupils into post 16 education and training settings.  The LACES team has established 
a clear protocol with Merthyr Tydfil College with regards to this and is in the process of looking 
at how this model is rolled out with other colleges and training providers.  There are clear 
arrangements in place to monitor the transitional arrangements for all year 11 Merthyr Tydfil 
looked after pupils to eliminate those pupils at risk of NEET status, and a close working 
relationship with the Barnardos team who deliver our leaving care service.  The LAC Education 
Coordinator sits on the NEET Operational Group and also meets regularly with the manager of 
the lead working team in the authority to support efforts to reduce LAC NEETS.  

 Training –  We offer regular training to schools, foster carers and social workers on key themes 
to support better outcomes for looked after children and care leavers.  On a regional level, it is 
proposed that Central South Consortium PDG LAC funding is used partly to establish a 
consortium wide rolling training calendar for schools, FE and HE institutions, training providers, 
Children’s Services and Foster Carers on the fundamental issues associated with supporting 
vulnerable LAC learners to achieve their academic potential.  There are also plans to establish a 
Consortium wide professional learning forum for LAC Designated teaching staff and leads for LAC 
in FE and HE institutions.

Page 110



11

7.0 MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW

7.1
The LACES service recognises the need to carefully monitor, evaluate and review its own 
practice.  The LAC Education Coordinator carries out regular reviews of key aspects of the 
service. The LACES service consults service recipients on a variety of aspects of the service they 
have received.  Budget reviews are conducted regularly.  

A comparison of the average external qualification point score of 16 year old LAC across the Central 
South Consortium

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

MT RCT BRI CAR VALE G WAL

371.7

270.2
250

202
216

348

262

192.4

163

273

177

375

221
234.2

180
194

148

255

193183.6 190 185

128

275

183185.9

131 123

155

333

152

Summer 2014

Summer 2013

Summer 2012

Summer 2011

Summer 2010

Summer 2009

Aside from a slight dip in in 2011-2012, Merthyr Tydfil’s average LAC external point score 
performance at key stage 4 has remained above the Welsh LAC average since 2008-2009.  During 
these periods, Merthyr Tydfil is placed in the middle quartile across Wales with regards to 
performance.  In 2011-2012 Merthyr Tydfil’s did fall below the Welsh average, placing us 
between the lower and median quartile.  It should be noted however that this year’s figure was 
influenced by the fact that 25% of the cohort attended a specialist residential provision for SEBD 
or a special school setting for moderate to severe learning difficulties.  Although it is recognised 
that excuses should not be made for under performance in looked after children, it is also 
important that significant social, emotional factors are considered when analysing the data. 

Page 111



12

A graph to illustrate the % of 16 year old pupils who leave education without an accredited 
qualification

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

MT LAC MT all pupils Wales

55.58

33.33

14.29
8.33

11.1

1.1 1.50 1.5 0.9
6.7

1.4 0.80 1.5 0.5
6.3

0.3 0.40

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

It should be noted that the performance of Merthyr Tydfil looked after children and young 
people across the key stages remains significantly poorer than the performance of all pupils 
across Merthyr Tydfil, and that of all pupils across Wales.  As a Local Authority, and regionally 
within the Central South Consortium, with the support of the Welsh Government we are 
committed to working with key partners to support children who are looked after to achieve 
better educational outcomes and fulfil their potential. Closing the gap is a ‘Corporate Parent’ 
responsibility and to achieve success it is essential that all partners work collectively towards 
agreed objectives.  

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Pupils in
Wales

LAC in
Wales

CIN in
Wales

Merthyr
Tydfil LAC

Merthyr
Tydfil
pupils

% achieving KS2 CSI 86 59 47 25 77.3
% achieving KS3 CSI 81 46 38 20 64.5
% achieving Key Stage 4 L2 Inclusive 55 17 11 6.25 32.5

%

The gap between the educational outcomes of all pupils, LAC in Wales, Children in 
need in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil LAC and all Merthyr Tydfil pupils at 31st March 2014 

(based on academic year 2012-2013) 

Page 112



13

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Pupils in
Wales

LAC in
Wales

CIN in
Wales

Merthyr
Tydfil LAC

Merthyr
Tydfil
pupils

% achieving KS2 CSI 84 53 45 33.3 75.3
% achieving KS3 CSI 77 36 29 30 51.6
% achieving Key Stage 4 L2 Inclusive 53 13 11 6.25 39.3

%
The gap between the educational outcomes of all pupils, LAC in Wales, Children in need 
in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil LAC and all Merthyr Tydfil pupils at 31st March 2013 (based on 

academic year 2011-2012) 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Pupils in
Wales

LAC in
Wales

CIN in
Wales

Merthyr
Tydfil LAC

Merthyr
Tydfil
pupils

% achieving KS2 CSI 83 51 41 37.5 67.9
% achieving KS3 CSI 73 33 23 27 50.2
% achieving Key Stage 4 L2 Inclusive 51 13 10 15.4 34.4

%

The gap between the educational outcomes of all pupils, LAC in Wales, Children in 
need in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil LAC and all Merthyr Tydfil pupils at 31st March 2012 

(based on academic year 2010-2011) 

Page 113



14

7.2 Personal Education Plans

Under Welsh Government guidance on the education of looked after children, a good quality 
PEP (Personal Education Plan) should be agreed and initiated within 20 school days of a looked 
after child entering care or joining a new school. Merthyr Tydfil is working hard to meet this 
target; the data below demonstrates our capability in this area. The LACES team’s dedicated 
PEP Coordinator is currently responsible for initiating PEPs ready for completion at a PEP 
meeting within the required timescale and updating them fully following this meeting.

% of Merthyr Tydfil PEP’s 
initiated in line with statutory 

guidelines.

All Wales Average

2007-2008 94.74% 52.13%
2008-2009 93.02% 65.51%
2009-2010 98.3% 61.4% 
2010 – 2011 88.7% 60.3%
2011-2012 92.6% 63.5%
2012-2013 95.7% 65%
2013-2014 93.9% Figure not yet available

It is proposed that Individual Development Plans (IDP’s) replace statements of SEN, post 16 
assessments (under section 140 of the Learning and Skills Act 2000) and non-statutory Individual 
Education Plans (IEPs).  It was proposed that IDPs would be able to either replace or serve the 
function of the PEP currently required in respect of all LAC learners.  The Welsh Government will 
consider responses to the White Paper as it develops the detail of the provisions to be included 
in a draft bill, to be introduced into the National Assembly for Wales in 2015.  

For further information on Merthyr Tydfil County Borough’s current PEP process please refer to 
the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council PEP Guidance and accompanying flow chart (July 
2012).   

7.3 Attendance 

We are committed to ensuring that all looked after children and young people have the 
opportunities they need to fulfil their potential. Regular attendance at school is a significant 
factor in achieving this.

MT LAC Primary Attendance MT LAC Secondary Attendance
2009 - 2010 95.6% 91.3%
2010 - 2011 95.1% 94.6%
2011-2012 96.8% 95.6%
2012-2013 97.4% 97.3%
2013-2014 97.9% 96.5%

Page 114



15

7.4 LAC Exclusions

Number of 
permanent 
exclusions

Number of LAC who 
received a fixed 
term exclusion

Average number of days 
fixed exclusion

2008 – 2009 0 (0%) 9 9.8 
2009 – 2010 1 (0.9%) 13 6.5
2010 - 2011 1 (1%) 14 7.6
2011 - 2012 1 (0.9%) 14 8
2012 - 2013 1 (0.9%) 7 4.4
2013 – 2014 0 (0%) 7 7.4

The lives of looked after children are often characterised by emotional stress and their 
continuum of learning is frequently disrupted as a result of these difficulties.  As a team we 
work closely in conjunction with behaviour support services, Educational Psychology Service, 
schools and relevant private sectors organisations to monitor and address the needs of pupils 
at risk of exclusion.   All LACES learning support officers are fully ELSA trained, equipping them 
will the skills required to best support our vulnerable LAC in Merthyr Tydfil schools.  

Page 115



16

7.6 LACES Recipient Consultation

Of 131 authorities who participated in the 2007 Audit Commission Survey of school’s views of 
their LEA, Merthyr Tydfil was ranked 9th in regards to the ‘quality of advice, support and 
training’ offered to teachers with a designated responsibility for LAC.

In the summer term 2012 the LACES Service undertook their annual survey with Merthyr Tydfil 
schools looking at their views of the service offered. 

75% felt the usefulness of LACES was highly valued in/significantly improves educational 
outcomes for looked after children, the remaining 25% of schools felt that the service was 
useful in their work to improve outcomes for looked after children.  

 * Survey conducted with 86% of schools with Merthyr Tydfil looked after children on roll

Some of the comments given by schools, pupils and foster carers over the past three years 
demonstrate the value of the service.

“It raises the pupils self esteem as they have a special contact within the school who is not 
part of the teaching team”  – Ysgol Y Graig Primary School.

“LACES 1:1 support has given our looked after children the opportunity to share feelings they 
would not do in a class room setting” – Gellifaelog Primary School.

“I feel less upset because I’ve got someone to talk to” – year 7 Pen-y-dre pupil

“…. has clearly gained in confidence as a result of LACES intervention, she is now willing to 
have a go at things she previously wouldn’t have tried.  I have noticed a definite improvement 
in her literacy levels since LACES started working with her.” – Foster Carer 

‘I now write better and listen better’ – Year 4 Coed-y-Dderwen Primary School Pupil

‘Pen y dre High School is appreciative of its continued good links with LACES. This is a vital 
provision for vulnerable learners.’ – Mr. Jones (LAC Designated Teacher, Pen y dre High 
School)

‘I’m not so worried now about going to Afon Taf in September’ – Year 6 Gellifaelog Pupil who 
has been receiving transition support via LACES.

             Annual larger scale LACES training events are organised for designated teaching staff, foster 
carers and social workers.  The focus of these events is determined by individual training needs. 
Previous events have focused on attachment, behaviour and learning, neuroscience and 
physiological development and the impact of trauma in children.  The LAC Education 
Coordinator continues to present regularly to groups such as SENCO forum and offers training 
to LSA’s and school governors.  LACES learning support officers continue to meet with LAC 
designated teachers on a regular basis to address individual training needs.  

Page 116



17

8.0 CONCLUSIONS

8.1 The LACES service has clear strategies to assist it to fulfil its own key objectives and strategic 
priorities.  These strategies are translated into clearly defined activities for the service to 
perform.  Each strategy continues to be monitored and evaluated by the LAC Education 
Coordinator to ensure it is fit for purpose and is meeting the needs of the recipient group.

8.2 This plan will help focus the efforts the LACES team in achieving its key objectives for the 
forthcoming years.

8.3 The LACES service continues to grow and develop in line with the educational needs of Merthyr 
Tydfil’s LAC population.  Through careful management it will continue to ensure that a high 
quality, efficient, effective and economic service is provided to all Merthyr Tydfil looked after 
children and those who work directly or indirectly with them.

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its draft work programme for consideration 
and development; and to prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee 
meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approves, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the appropriate questions at 3.2 in planning for 
the next meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?

Date Written 10th June 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 20th June 2016

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?

Page 120



Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

3.3 Committees members will be aware that the Council has seven key priorities as per 
the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

The seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes, and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of these themes. The 4 
themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed and each reflects Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee work programme activity is aligned to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny 
committees in this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page”.

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

Scrutiny Section
MTCBC

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 123



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 124



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 125



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 126



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Committee Learning and LAESCYP
Date / Timing Overarching 

Item
Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member

 (Other) Scrutiny Focus 

Pupil 
Outcomes

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Education of Looked After Children

Pupil 
Outcomes

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Attendance and Exclusions

20th June 2016 Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan.
*Appendix = Draft Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and 
challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Pupil 
Outcomes

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Flying start outcomes

Merthyr 
Youth Forum 
/ Cabinet 

DH/CH Information & Overview : 
To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an 
insight on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive 
opportunities for the youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc. Listening To Young People/ 
Youth Engagement and Progression12th September 2016

Commissioni
ng the 

consortium

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
A report detailing the current effectiveness and shortcomings of the 
consortium in relation to the recent Estyn inspection Plus a review of the CSC 
business plans for the short and long term

31st October 2016 Leadership Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
SER KQ 3.3  Partnership working 

P
age 127



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

SER KQ 3.4 Resource management

Service Level 
Agreements 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Suggested by the Chair. Following the 25th January 2016 meeting, the 
committee wants to monitor consultation with the unions re lunches and 
breakfast clubs, and also the educational inclusion and the feedback from the 
schools forum and the schools themselves; and the impact for the local 
authority and the schools.

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan.
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example 
activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Schools 
Attendance 
At Scrutiny

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors

Schools

Scrutiny & Challenge : 
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of XX School. The 
meeting will involve a 15 minute presentation by the school focusing on the 
good features and the challenges that the school is facing. The Committee will 
also be asking the local authority officers how they identified what, if 
anything, was needed at the school and how the school responded. The 
Committee is also keen to understand how both the school and the local 
authority have made good progress together.

School 
organisation 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Report on school organisation framework and surplus places and 21st Century 
Schools programme. SER KQ 2.4  Access and school places 

5th December 2016

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
SER KQ 2.1 Support for School Improvement

23rd January 2017 Wellbeing Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

P
age 128



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Wellbeing
SER KQ1 1.2 Wellbeing 
SER KQ 2.3  Promoting social inclusion and wellbeing

Pupils with 
ALN

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Provision for pupils with ALN
SER KQ2 2.2 Support for additional learning needs  

Leadership Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
SER KQ 3.1 Leadership including governance

SER KQ 3.2  Improving quality

Pupil 
outcomes

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
SER  KQ1 1:1 Standards

Self-evaluation Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Summary SER

27th February 2017
Performance Cllr H Jones / 

EMcW / DH
Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan.
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example 
activities from the Performance Board challenge.
*Appendix = Performance Board update.  An synopsis from the Performance 
Board.

17th April 2017

Schools 
Attendance 
At Scrutiny

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors

Schools

Scrutiny & Challenge : 
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of XX School. The 
meeting will involve a 15 minute presentation by the school focusing on the 
good features and the challenges that the school is facing. The Committee will 
also be asking the local authority officers how they identified what, if 
anything, was needed at the school and how the school responded. The 
Committee is also keen to understand how both the school and the local 
authority have made good progress together.

P
age 129



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Possible focus for a task and finish group
 Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a 

borough wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self 
Evaluation) 

 Review of what the Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough. To include the role of 
Greenfield Special school

For future consideration (some need to be taken off)

To be confirmed (in 
addition to June 
2015)

Adult, MIA, 
Community 
Learning &
Communities 
First

LB, DH, Lead 
HOS & Cllr 

BC

Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services

Information & Overview : A brief outline of key LAESCYP and Education issues 
currently delivered by Social Regeneration and an opportunity to scope out how the 
new committee will address issues.

To be confirmed

Merthyr Youth 
Forum / Cabinet

DH/LPL Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services

To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an insight 
on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive opportunities for the 
youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc.

To be confirmed

Corporate Plan 
Performance 
Updates

MT Corporate 
Performance

Scrutiny & Challenge : Quarterly reports on Corporate Plan & Outcome Agreement 
performance monitoring

To be confirmed

Nursery 
Admissions

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of nursery provision to meet statutory 
requirements and defining sufficiency

To be confirmed

Home To 
Schools 
Transport

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues

Information & Overview : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of HTST

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

P
age 130



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

To be confirmed

Learning 
Support 
Assistant 
Review

Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues

Information & Overview : A report detailing the outcomes of a review of the 
appropriateness of the current service level agreements with schools in relation to 
LSAs

To be confirmed

Effectiveness of 
Governors

GW/DH Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services

Information & Overview : To have sight of the Governors survey. How effective are 
Governors in the overall school improvement.

To be confirmed

Human 
Resources 
Department 
Restructuring. 

Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services

Information & Overview : Impact of restructure on schools i.e. better service; school 
improvement

To be confirmed

School Budgets 
(Afon Taf High 
School)

School 
Budgets

Information & Overview: Meeting 7th September 2015. Afon Taf High School 
overspent against its plan in year 1 by £60k and closed the financial year-end £342k in 
deficit. Internal audit are currently reviewing the current financial position of Afon Taf 
High School and the reasons for their large financial deficit. The committee has asked 
for sight of the report when it is available.

To be confirmed

Free School 
Meals 
(attainment)

Pupil 
Outcomes

Information & Overview : Meeting 7th September 2015. Meeting with CSC. One of the 
areas for improvement  “A sharper pace and urgency to focus on the achievement of 
children claiming free school meals in particular across the region, so that they 
achieve accelerated improvement against their peers”. Need to follow up on this at a 
future meeting with the CSC and the Chief Education Officer. What is the CSC doing to 
support this LEA?

To be confirmed School Balances School 
Budgets

Information & Overview: The committee requires a report on school balances with 
reference to the likely pressures on school balances in the coming financial years.

To be confirmed

Effectiveness of 
Capita 1 system 

Pupil 
Outcomes

Information & Overview: The software system Capita One provides management 
information systems for local authorities to for example measure attendance, provide 
attainment figures (trends etc), safeguarding etc. An update on the effectiveness of 
the system is required.

To be confirmed Loss of Pupils to Pupil Information & Overview:  Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools 

P
age 131



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

RCT schools Outcome and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a borough 
wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair 
attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self Evaluation)

To be confirmed Additional 
Learning Needs

Pupil 
Outcomes

Information & Overview: The committee requires an update report on what the 
Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough.

To be confirmed 
Absenteeism Pupil 

Outcomes
Information & Overview: A report providing levels of school absenteeism, to include 
comparison with like schools and the development of any procedures to raise 
attendance. Top also meet with a member of the Absenteeism Group.

To be confirmed 

Do schools 
receive Internal 
Audit Reports? 
Do they discuss 
with the 
Governing 
Bodies

Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance

Information & Overview: This suggestion emanated from the Audit Committee on 9th 
November (Cllr’s Clive Jones / Kate Moran). Is there general access to schools minutes 
and agenda’s 

To be confirmed 

B Squared 
Assessment 
Software and 
Capita 1 System

Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed that B 
Squared Assessment Software has not been introduced in schools as yet. This 
software package will assist with collation and production of data / information in 
relation to Provision for ALN Pupils. An update is required as to whether this software 
is now being introduced / purchased.

To be confirmed 
Greenfield 
School -t 
capacity

Pupil 
Outcomes

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed 
Greenfield School is at capacity. As such are other Schools struggling with resources, 
are there more children in mainstream schools.

To be confirmed 
Invite SENCO’s 
to a Scrutiny 
meeting

Pupil 
Outcomes

Information & Overview:  Following the 30/11/2015 meeting. To get an 
understanding of the work they do and their experiences of working with Local 
Authority.

To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17. Placed as 

Performance 
Board – 
Learning report 
25th January

Performance Report recommendation is “Scrutiny to schedule a reoccurring agenda item in their 
forward work programme to monitor the delivery of the agreed action points detailed 
in this report.”

P
age 132



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

standing item for 
time being.

To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17

Service Level 
Agreements

Pupil 
Outcomes

Scrutiny and review:- Suggested by the Chair. Following the 25th January 2016 
meeting, the committee still wants to monitor consultation with the unions re lunches 
and breakfast clubs, and also the educational inclusion and the feedback from the 
schools forum and the schools themselves; and the impact for the local authority and 
the schools.

To be confirmed NEETS Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services

NEETs going to scrutiny after the Destination Survey for 2015 is published, as the 
department would then be in a position to report on Merthyr’s performance in 
comparison to the rest of Wales. 

The Department (Chris Hole) highlight the following themes to Scrutiny so that it is 
able to explore further  as the coming year progresses, especially as there is a general 
awareness of the improvements seen in recent years to the overall NEETs figure  with 
a continued  decrease in young people identified as NEET which for 2015 is  1.6% as 
previously reported.   

 Key messages/themes

1. The council currently has access to the Merthyr Tydfil pre-release data for 
2015. The full report is due to be published in the spring of this year however 
no set date is currently available. When published this will enable the 
authority to benchmark its current performance against the rest of Wales. 

2. However through local analysis  of trend data for the past 3 years (2013 - 
2015) 

a.  An increasing number of young people are staying on in education, 
however significant increases have been seen in young people opting 
for school 6th forms outside of Merthyr Tydfil (excluding Greenfield)

b.  Whilst the number of young people  classified as unable to take up a 
post 16 provision is small, Mental Health issues are identified as the 
prevailing factor   (in 2015 70% of the current 10  unable to access 
provision) 

P
age 133



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

c. After initial progress  there has been a significant reduction in young 
people securing apprenticeships 

3. A further theme not covered by the Destination survey  but requiring 
exploration in the coming year is the retention of young people by sector 
(Work based Learning, Tertiary College etc.) once they have taken up a 
progression route after leaving school 

These suggested  themes would  give some clear priorities  for future scrutiny 
 meetings  within what is a fairly wide partnership agenda. 

To be confirmed Surplus Places Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance

Scrutiny and review:- Report of what impact this will have on schools in the future 
and how it will impact on funding allocation.

To be confirmed Schools Budget 
Formula / 
Schools funding 
formula

Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance

Scrutiny and review: - This is an ongoing issue as far as this scrutiny committee is 
concerned which has not been addressed satisfactorily to date. 

P
age 134


	Agenda
	3 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 1 Raising standards of attainment
	4 Update on Attendance and Exclusions
	5 Education of Looked After Children
	Appendix 1 Strategy for PDGLAC - TW
	APPENDIX 2 Use of Pupil Deprivation Grant for Looked after Children (PDGLAC) to support improved educational outcomes
	Appendix 3 LACES BUSINESS PLAN 2014-2016

	8 Preparation of Forward Work Programme
	strategies on a page
	Learning  LAESCYP descriptors




